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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Good afternoon,

          3  Council Member Barron. Good afternoon, to you, and

          4  thank you, everyone, for joining us here today.

          5                 My name is David Yassky. This is a

          6  joint hearing of the Committee on Small Business and

          7  the Committee on Consumer Affairs to consider two

          8  proposed pieces of legislation to address the

          9  problem of piracy. Not Jonny Depp-style piracy on

         10  the high seas, but theft of intellectual property,

         11  theft of movies and TV shows which I believe, and I

         12  think the numbers show, is rampant, not just

         13  worldwide, but here in New York City, and it's

         14  something that we have to do everything that is in

         15  our power in City government to combat because this

         16  is a core industry for New York City, film, TV

         17  production, the entertainment industry is as

         18  important an industry as there is in the City, and

         19  piracy represents a genuine threat to the

         20  livelihoods of the tens of thousands of New Yorkers

         21  who work in that industry.

         22                 I know that we're going to hear a

         23  tape from the representatives of the Bloomberg

         24  Administration, which has quite admirably identified

         25  this as a problem, has undertaken very important
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          2  efforts here which we will hear about, and we will

          3  also consider what additional legislative tools

          4  would be available and should be available to help

          5  you in that effort.

          6                 We, I know, are joined by Council

          7  Members Barron and Koppell. Would either of you want

          8  to say something at the outset?

          9                 Council Member Barron.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I just have

         11  very, very mixed feelings about these bills. We have

         12  this multi-billion dollar movie industry that we're

         13  protecting from this piracy. I'm not for piracy or

         14  any kind of infringements, but, you know, there are

         15  already some laws that are dealing with that and I

         16  just think that this industry that makes a sinful

         17  amount of money, that we are sitting here trying to

         18  toughen penalties on piracy and infringements, which

         19  I certainly think that that shouldn't happen, but we

         20  should think seriously about protecting the people

         21  of New York in other ways than this, because I think

         22  this is more of a protection of some rich,

         23  multi-million dollar industry that certainly should

         24  not be looted by pirates, but I do think that it's a

         25  bit much for us to be trying to engage our community
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          2  more with law enforcement and having the Consumer

          3  Affairs Department also getting involved in this in

          4  most communities that really don't need more law

          5  enforcement involvement with other issues.

          6                 So, I'm very, very concerned about

          7  these pieces of legislation, but let the hearing

          8  begin.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Well, thank

         10  you very much. And I look forward to debate. Council

         11  Member Koppell.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

         13  I don't want to prolong the hearing. However, let me

         14  say that it was over 20 years ago in Albany when I

         15  introduced legislation substantially increasing the

         16  penalties for trademark infringement on counterfeit

         17  goods, and notwithstanding those increases in

         18  penalties which were welcomed by the industry at the

         19  time, we still haven't solved the problem. And I

         20  take a somewhat different view than my colleague,

         21  Councilman Barron. This is a cost to law-abiding

         22  business. It diminishes the ability of people to

         23  earn money in legitimate industry, and it also has

         24  an effect on innovation and creation by cheapening

         25  the value of trademarks and copyrights.
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          2                 So, I feel it is a very appropriate

          3  thing and I want to compliment, because I've looked

          4  at the statement briefly, compliment the police of

          5  the City of New York and the City generally for

          6  taking an active role in prosecution.

          7                 And I want to compliment both you,

          8  Chairman Yassky and you, Chairman Comrie, for

          9  holding this hearing.

         10                 Anything we can do to eliminate

         11  priacy, whether it be videos or hard-goods, I

         12  support.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. And

         14  now, thankfully for me, I'm joined by esteemed Chair

         15  of the Committee on Consumer Affairs, Chair Comrie.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you,

         17  Chairman Yassky. And good afternoon. Excuse my

         18  tardiness, but things in Southeast Queens, since the

         19  shooting has made it difficult for me to be on time

         20  anywhere.

         21                 This is our second joint hearing

         22  which is going to address the issues of film piracy

         23  and the sale of counterfeit goods in this City. I

         24  want to thank Council Member Yassky, the Chair of

         25  the Small Business Committee, and his dedicated
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          2  office for working with my staff to prepare for

          3  today's meeting.

          4                 Every City commuter, tourist and

          5  resident encounters a seemingly unlimited number of

          6  street and storefront vendors hawking counterfeit

          7  clothing and accessories, as well as tapes of DVDs

          8  of motion pictures currently in release. Obviously,

          9  the manufacturers and the distributors of the

         10  authentic items have not authorized these sales.

         11                 The problem is so widespread that

         12  many holiday shoppers are seeking out vendors of

         13  private goods -- of pirated goods in order to obtain

         14  low-cost gifts.

         15                 The City and legitimate businesses

         16  are frustrated with these illegal vendors who do not

         17  pay taxes, who deprive honest businesses of income

         18  and clearly sells lower level, low-quality goods

         19  that the people that are trying to get a decent

         20  holiday gift wind up totally unsatisfied with.

         21                 Clearly. More needs to be done to

         22  halt their proliferation.

         23                 Today we will consider two bills

         24  designed to do that. At our last hearing we heard

         25  testimony indicating that a large percentage of
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          2  nationally distributed counterfeit films are

          3  recorded directly off the screens of various New

          4  York City theaters. Accordingly, Intro. Bill 383

          5  would make it a misdemeanor to operate a recording

          6  device in a movie theater without the expressed

          7  written consent of the theater's operator.

          8                 Further, proposed Intro. Bill 470, in

          9  relation to the sale of counterfeit goods would make

         10  it a misdemeanor to vend any goods that were

         11  produced in violation of any patent trademark or

         12  copyright laws within New York City.

         13                 In addition, the bill would authorize

         14  the Police Department, as well as certain members of

         15  the Department of Consumer Affairs to confiscate

         16  these goods, thus removing them from the stream of

         17  commerce.

         18                 Again, I want to thank everyone here

         19  for your attendance. We look forward to all of your

         20  suggestions, with the intention of making these

         21  pieces of legislation as effective and as

         22  enforceable as possible under the law.

         23                 At this time, Council Member Yassky.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you,

         25  yes. Chair Comrie, our colleague, Council Member
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          2  Barron raised I think some very important issues

          3  that I'm eager to discuss and hash out. I think we

          4  have a number of witnesses that are here, let's hear

          5  from them and then the debate can --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I didn't hear his

          7  whole statement. I was going to do a little sidebar

          8  with him.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Go ahead.

         10                 Ms. Hyman, are you testifying on

         11  behalf of the Administration.

         12                 MS. HYMAN: I am. Thank you, Chairman

         13  Yassky. Good morning, Chairman Comrie, Chairman

         14  Yassky, and members of the Council. My name is Shari

         15  Hyman, and I am the Director of the Mayor's Office

         16  of Special Enforcement.

         17                 I am testifying today on behalf of

         18  John Feinblatt, The City's Criminal Justice

         19  Coordinator, who appreciates the opportunity you

         20  have afforded him to testify, and apologizes that he

         21  cannot be here today.

         22                 I am joined by Susan Petito,

         23  Assistant Commissioner for Intergovernmental Affairs

         24  at the New York City Police Department, Deputy

         25  Inspector Brain O'Neill, who is the Commanding

                                                            11

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  Officer of NYPD's Organized Crime Investigation

          3  Division and Andrew Eiler, Director of Legislation,

          4  for the Department of Consumer Affairs.

          5                 Movie piracy and trademark

          6  counterfeiting are crimes that hurt all who live,

          7  work and do business in New York. No one wins when

          8  this illegal activity is allowed to flourish. It

          9  costs the City jobs, cheats us out of millions of

         10  dollars in tax revenue and floods our streets with

         11  illegal vendors selling low-quality products,

         12  causing annoyance, congestion and dangerous

         13  conditions, and it cheats the entertainment

         14  industry, which is an important part of New York

         15  City's unique character and an important part of our

         16  economy.

         17                 Unfortunately, New York City is not

         18  only a major force in the entertainment industry, it

         19  is the center of movie piracy, as well.

         20                 The Motion Picture Association of

         21  America estimates that over 40 percent of movies

         22  that are illegally recorded with camcorders in the

         23  US were copied in New York City movie theaters,

         24  while 20 percent of pirated movies seized globally

         25  were traced to our theaters. Movie piracy is theft
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          2  and we have a responsibility to prevent it by

          3  stopping it at its worst.

          4                 That is why the Mayor recently

          5  announced an enforcement initiative to crack down on

          6  pirated DVDs. We are attacking piracy by targeting

          7  the three distribution points. First, we are getting

          8  pirated DVDs off the street where they are sold.

          9  Inspector O'Neill will tell you the NYPD is already

         10  doing this.

         11                 Second, we are calling upon Albany to

         12  pass legislation that will increase the criminal

         13  penalties for movie piracy, making it a crime,

         14  instead of a violation.

         15                 This will stop movie piracy at its

         16  source in the movie theaters where they are first

         17  illegally recorded.

         18                 Third, we are using the City's

         19  Nuisance Abatement Laws to close down the locations

         20  where pirated DVDs are stored and then distributed

         21  in bulk to street peddlers.

         22                 This anti-piracy initiative builds

         23  upon a long and successful track record the

         24  Bloomberg Administration has in dealing with

         25  trademark counterfeiting.
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          2                 Through a multifaceted approach, the

          3  Mayor's Office of Special Enforcement uses the

          4  City's Civil Nuisance Abatement Laws to close

          5  illegal and dangerous large-scale operations

          6  permanently, and it has yielded the following

          7  results:

          8                 The Office of Special Enforcement has

          9  targeted and closed 17 locations, seized over $50

         10  million of counterfeit merchandise, and recovered

         11  almost $1 million in penalties. I thank the Council

         12  for the opportunity to appear before you today and

         13  would like to address both the unauthorized

         14  recording and the counterfeit goods bills.

         15                 With respect to Intro. 383,

         16  Unauthorized Recording in a Motion Picture House,

         17  like our own legislative proposal, it seeks to

         18  increase the penalties for movie piracy. It is a

         19  smart solution to a growing problem. It has become

         20  commonplace in New York City, unfortunately, for

         21  pirated copies of a movie that premieres on Friday

         22  night to be on the streets by Saturday morning.

         23                 Today technology is so sophisticated

         24  that tiny hand-held devices, such as camcorders, are

         25  used to record movies from any seat in a movie
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          2  theater. These pirated movies are then mass

          3  duplicated in small labs throughout the City.

          4                 It is estimated that a one- or

          5  two-person operation with as few as 20 DVD burners

          6  can produce about 2,000 pirated DVDs every day.

          7                 This illegal practice hurts both box

          8  office and DVD sales in New York City affecting job

          9  growth and tax revenue.

         10                 Under current law, movie piracy is

         11  only a violation, and the penalties imposed for a

         12  conviction fall proportionately short of the severe

         13  damage these criminals do to our entertainment

         14  industry.

         15                 At most, a conviction under the

         16  current law only carries a penalty of up to 15 days

         17  in jail and maximum fine is $250.

         18                 As a violation, it is also subject to

         19  sealing, creating the possibility that a repeat

         20  offender will go undetected.

         21                 While a conviction under 383 will

         22  also not appear in a person's criminal history, it

         23  is certainly a positive step in making the

         24  punishment meaningful.

         25                 While there are some drafting issues
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          2  we would like to discuss in further negotiation, I

          3  am pleased that the City Council is taking steps to

          4  eradicate this behavior by proposing local

          5  legislation that provides a complimentary tool to

          6  law enforcement.

          7                 With respect to Intro. 470, sale of

          8  counterfeit goods, Intro. 470 places within the

          9  Administrative Code a version of what already

         10  substantially exists in the penal law.

         11                 It sets out criminal penalties for

         12  selling, trading or distributing counterfeit

         13  merchandise. It also outlines the seizure and

         14  forfeiture process whose intent seems to be similar

         15  to the already existing provisions of the penal law

         16  which are utilized by the New York City Police

         17  Department.

         18                 Attacking a problem on all fronts and

         19  with all available and appropriate resources is

         20  sound enforcement. However, we believe that the

         21  Police Department already does a good job of

         22  enforcing the trademark counterfeiting laws, and

         23  then a decision to extend such enforcement authority

         24  to an agency not normally engaged in law enforcement

         25  must be carefully scrutinized.
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          2                 Trademark counterfeiting is a

          3  criminal enterprise that can pose real hazards to

          4  agents tasked with confronting it.

          5                 It has been the experience of my

          6  office that these illegal vendors, like most

          7  criminals, often fight back or flee when confronted

          8  with arrests.

          9                 It has also been our experience that

         10  what may appear to be a single vendor hawking

         11  illegal goods on a street corner, may actually be

         12  part of a larger criminal network.

         13                 For that reason, it is important that

         14  these arrests are treated as a potential link to

         15  larger criminal investigations. Therefore, any

         16  proposal that moves criminal enforcement authority

         17  outside of traditional law enforcement, just be

         18  closely considered and we must weight the risks that

         19  it might impose or the criminal investigations that

         20  it might compromise.

         21                 We believe that the combination of

         22  the Mayor's anti-piracy initiative existing law

         23  enforcement efforts targeting counterfeiting and

         24  movie piracy and the Council's proposal to make the

         25  act of recording a motion picture in a movie theater
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          2  a misdemeanor will provide a strong and effective

          3  response.

          4                 If I may, I would like to now turn

          5  the floor over to Deputy Inspector O'Neill, who is

          6  prepared to provide more details about NYPD's

          7  successful law enforcement efforts.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Before the

          9  inspector starts, we've been joined by Council

         10  Member Tish James from Brooklyn.

         11                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: Good

         12  afternoon, Chairman Comrie, Chairman Yassky, and

         13  members of the Council. I am Deputy Inspector Brian

         14  O'Neill, Commanding Officer of the New York City

         15  Police Department's Organized Crime Investigation

         16  Division, and I am pleased to be here on behalf of

         17  Police Commissioner Raymond Kelly to discuss with

         18  you the work of the NYPD's Trademark Infringement

         19  Unit, and to provide our comments regarding Intro.

         20  Nos 383 and 470.

         21                 The mission of the Trademark

         22  Infringement Unit is to gather intelligence and

         23  target the manufacturers and distributors of

         24  counterfeit goods.

         25                 The unit was created in 1994 and to
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          2  our knowledge, ours is the only Police Department in

          3  the country which devotes resources to

          4  investigations specifically targeting trademark

          5  violations.

          6                 In acknowledgment of the extensive

          7  criminal enterprises which lie behind much of the

          8  counterfeit goods trade, the unit was placed within

          9  the Police Department's Organized Crime Control

         10  Bureau, which investigates high level organized

         11  conspiracies involving narcotics, firearms

         12  trafficking, auto crime and other serious crimes.

         13                 Our primary enforcement tools are the

         14  felony crimes contained in the New York State penal

         15  law. Trademark counterfeiting in the second degree,

         16  and E felony, prohibits someone with an intent to

         17  defraud or deceive someone from manufacturing,

         18  distributing, selling or offering for sale any goods

         19  bearing a counterfeit trademark with a retail value

         20  of over $1,000.

         21                 Trademark counterfeiting in the first

         22  degree, a C felony, is committed when the goods have

         23  a retail value over $100,000.

         24                 Failure to disclose the origin of

         25  recording in the first degree, also an E felony, is
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          2  committed when an offender offers for sale a

          3  recording whose cover does not indicate the name and

          4  address of the manufacturer or the name of the

          5  principal artist and the offender has a prior

          6  conviction for the second degree crime, or the crime

          7  involves at least 100 recordings.

          8                 Please note that the use of these

          9  criminal statutes in making arrests and seizing

         10  contraband property is complimented by powerful

         11  civil remedies, such as asset forfeiture and

         12  nuisance abatement, to forfeit the proceeds and

         13  instrumentalities of the crime, and to shut down as

         14  public nuisances the locations where the crimes are

         15  committed.

         16                 The Trademark Infringement Unit is

         17  staffed by one lieutenant, one sergeant and eight

         18  detectives, who are collectively responsible for 95

         19  felony arrests, 62 search warrants executed and the

         20  seizure of over $7 million worth of property thus

         21  far in 2006.

         22                 The unit works closely with other

         23  Police Department commands, particularly Patrol

         24  Borough Manhattan South Peddler Task Force and

         25  Patrol Precincts, as well as with the Mayor's Office
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          2  of Special Enforcement, and with industry

          3  representatives, including major manufacturers, and

          4  the Motion Picture Association of America, and

          5  Recording Industry Association of America.

          6                 Of particular note is our work with

          7  federal El Dorado Task Force, under the auspices of

          8  the United States Immigration and Customs

          9  Enforcement, as well as with the United States

         10  Secret Service, in which the counterfeit goods trade

         11  has become a new focus.

         12                 The Trademark Infringement Unit has

         13  developed innovative investigative techniques that

         14  have served as a model for public and private

         15  security entities. All of its investigators are

         16  proven major case investigators, initiating their

         17  investigations in many ways, using information

         18  gathered from warrant executions, debriefing of

         19  prisoners, referrals from precinct commanders,

         20  complaints from industry representatives and

         21  information from confidential informants. Their

         22  investigative techniques vary widely as each case

         23  dictates.

         24                 Undercover and confidential informant

         25  purchases, surveillance, background investigations
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          2  of subjects, and identification of assets. Similar

          3  to the way narcotics investigations are conducted,

          4  the detectives trace the flow of information,

          5  finding out the names of the bigger dealers and

          6  utilizing undercover officers and confidential

          7  informants to make purchases in bulk.

          8                 We often make multiple buys before an

          9  arrest is made to ensure that the offenders will

         10  receive the maximum charges.

         11                 We have also set up large undercover

         12  warehouses of our own to lure the biggest violators.

         13  The work of the unit is well known and well

         14  respected in the law enforcement community. We have

         15  advised other law enforcement agencies, both local

         16  and federal, as well as discussing the global impact

         17  of trademark counterfeiting with representatives of

         18  numerous foreign countries.

         19                 The broad scope of trademark

         20  counterfeiting is illustrated by the types of goods

         21  we have investigated and seized - apparel, jewelry,

         22  motion pictures, music, digital software and auto

         23  parts. An example of our work is a long-term

         24  investigation with the United States Secret Service,

         25  which we concluded this past summer addressing a
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          2  chronic location in and around 1225 Broadway,

          3  representing the HUB of the counterfeit goods trade

          4  in New York City.

          5                 This federal investigation resulted

          6  in three arrests for conspiracy and trafficking in

          7  counterfeit goods and services, and four arrests for

          8  conspiracy and violation of criminal infringement of

          9  copyright.

         10                 In addition to our work with the

         11  federal government, the Trademark Infringement Unit

         12  executed 14 search warrants at 1225 Broadway,

         13  resulting in 18 felony arrests in the last 12

         14  months.

         15                 We coordinated our efforts with the

         16  Midtown South and 13th Precincts, as well as with

         17  the Mayor's Office of Special Enforcement, to

         18  maximize our impact.

         19                 Together we were successful in

         20  shutting the operation down.

         21                 To illustrate our efforts in the area

         22  of copyright infringement and counterfeit DVDs and

         23  CDs, during 2006 we have seized 49 computer towers

         24  which included 212 DVD burners, and 176 CD burners.

         25  Also seized were over 261,000 counterfeit compact
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          2  disks, and over 345,000 counterfeit DVDs.

          3                 Turning to the particular issue of

          4  film piracy and the bills before you. We would like

          5  to express our support for the intent behind Intro

          6  383 to stop film piracy at its source.

          7                 The bill would make it a misdemeanor

          8  to cause or permit another to cause the unauthorized

          9  operation of a recording device in a movie theater.

         10  The bill would supplement Section 275.32 of the

         11  Penal Law, which prohibits the operation of a

         12  recording device in a movie theater.

         13                 The bill would, in effect, raise the

         14  penalty level for this offense from a violation to a

         15  misdemeanor, and would expand the prohibition to

         16  include not only the operator but anyone working

         17  with them to make bootleg videos and disks.

         18                 The enforcement of this new

         19  misdemeanor would, however, present challenges which

         20  require further discussion regarding how the remedy

         21  offered by the bill can be utilized.

         22                 With respect to Intro. 470, the bill

         23  establishes a new misdemeanor crime of selling,

         24  trading or distributing any goods which violate

         25  patent, copyright or trademark laws, and sets forth
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          2  a seizure and forfeiture process which requires the

          3  Department of Consumer Affairs to adjudicate

          4  violations and commence forfeiture actions.

          5                 We suggest that the bill

          6  substantially duplicates existing law, including the

          7  provisions of penal law articles 165, 275 and 420,

          8  dealing with trademark counterfeiting and

          9  unathorized recordings, and in some ways conflicts

         10  with their provisions.

         11                 We are therefore concerned that the

         12  bill creates unnecessary consistency and does not

         13  add to the tools utilized by the Police Department

         14  to address the sale of counterfeit goods.

         15                 In conclusion, we hope that our

         16  description of the Department's efforts in attacking

         17  the counterfeit goods trade and our comments on the

         18  bills have been helpful. And we appreciate your

         19  attention to the issue of film piracy.

         20                 We will be pleased to answer any

         21  questions you may have.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: No one else is

         23  offering any testimony? Okay.

         24                 To start off with, Inspector O'Neill,

         25  neither one of our bills are intended to eliminate
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          2  your excellent unit. I don't think that either bill

          3  diminishing the role of the Trademark Infringement

          4  Unit or disacknowledges the excellent and actually

          5  proactive work that you've done in being a model for

          6  other units around the country. That was not the

          7  intention of either bill, it was to empower the

          8  Department of Consumer Affairs to probably give you

          9  more locations, more information from consumers, so

         10  it's not just an initiative that's solely generated

         11  by the excellent work of your Department, but I

         12  think that you would even admit that even with all

         13  of the work that you've done, you haven't captured a

         14  tenth of the market of the illegal activity that's

         15  out there; isn't that correct?

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: The issue

         17  of trademark counterfeiting is certainly a very

         18  large one, and not only the trademark infringement

         19  unit addresses this within the Department, but

         20  patrol units, peddler units and along with the

         21  Office of Special Enforcement also address this

         22  issue.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You would

         24  appreciate the ability for consumers to contact the

         25  Department of Consumer Affairs, give them the
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          2  information, so at least you could start your

          3  investigative work or look at other locations that

          4  you haven't had an opportunity to look at, possibly

          5  expand your unit four times if the amount of

          6  complaints were given to you in a statistical mode,

          7  then I know your Department deals with and utilizes,

          8  in order to staff manpower.

          9                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: We already

         10  receive complaints from the public directly, and we

         11  investigate them as the Trademark Infringement Unit.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. We could go

         13  back and forth on that but I'll leave it alone. I

         14  think the ability of the public to also have an

         15  outside source to make the complaints to would be

         16  helpful to the public, especially a tourist that is

         17  coming into the City or a person is coming and

         18  purchased the item, found out that the item fell

         19  apart before they got back to their hotel room or

         20  back to their home. You know, I think it would be

         21  very helpful to know that 3-1-1 could capture those

         22  calls as well.

         23                 You talked about the acknowledgment

         24  of the extensive criminal enterprises, which lie

         25  behind much of the goods. Could you expand on that
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          2  for us and tell us what kind of enterprises that

          3  were especially behind the recent arrest at 1225

          4  Broadway?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: 425

          6  Broadway was actually a series of organizations

          7  working in their smaller organizations that we

          8  addressed. We used not only federal law, the New

          9  York State Penal Law, but along with the Mayor's

         10  Office of Special Enforcement, they use civil

         11  enforcement proceedings and shut down businesses

         12  that way.

         13                 But we have in other investigations

         14  come across trademark counterfeiting as one part of

         15  criminal organizations that are involved in other

         16  crimes as well, whether it be narcotics dealing,

         17  alien smuggling, et cetera, and we have found that

         18  trademark counterfeiting is just one of the ways

         19  that they were making money off the public.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But was any of

         21  those legal violators part of any larger criminal

         22  enterprise in that particular bust? Or were those

         23  just independent entrepreneurs trying to gain a fast

         24  dollar?

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: They were

                                                            28

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  not independent. They were smaller organizations,

          3  each of, say, the rooms in there would have several

          4  people working together, but it was not part of what

          5  we would call an organized crime family or a large

          6  non-traditional, even organized crime group.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, it's possible

          8  for a person with five people to develop an illegal

          9  enterprise, gain access to counterfeit goods, turn

         10  it around and make a fast couple hundred thousand

         11  dollars in this particular market?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: Especially

         13  when we discuss counterfeit CDs and DVDs, you do see

         14  small organizations where we have found labs in

         15  certain parts of the City that we're creating

         16  thousands and thousands of DVDs and CDs in very

         17  small spaces and transporting them into midtown or

         18  other parts of the City for mass sale.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And on the hard

         20  goods items, the bags and the clothes, how many of

         21  those were in that particular bust?

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: I don't

         23  have particular numbers from that particular bust,

         24  but we have seized over $7 million in what we value

         25  the property as over the course of this year, and in
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          2  our property clerk warehouses, there are currently

          3  150 tractor trailers filled with counterfeit

          4  merchandise awaiting destruction or court

          5  proceedings to be completed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: How long does it

          7  take between actual seizure and destruction?

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: Well, that

          9  can depend on the court proceedings. Once a seizure

         10  is made under penal law, the judge that it's brought

         11  before has 48 hours to determine that it is in fact

         12  counterfeit. If he determines it's not counterfeit,

         13  the property has to be returned. We have never had

         14  that happen.

         15                 Once it is determined to be

         16  counterfeit, the property is held until the court

         17  disposition is finalized, which would be a month or

         18  could be six months.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. At the

         20  bottom of your testimony on page two, you talked

         21  about challenges that the misdemeanor would present.

         22  Could you clarify a little more in depth what you

         23  think those challenges would be? In light of the

         24  fact that no one is trying to eliminate your task

         25  force, we were hoping to triple it or quadruple it
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          2  through this effort.

          3                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: The major

          4  challenge is obvious that it's not in the public

          5  eye. This is a crime that will be conducted inside a

          6  closed theater where you're not going to have a law

          7  enforcement officer there. That's the primary

          8  challenge.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         10                 But if a constituent, probably who

         11  was upset because trying to keep the theater quiet

         12  at the particular time in doing a taping, could call

         13  3-1-1 and you could have an officer on the scene,

         14  extensively before the film was ended, correct?

         15                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: That's a

         16  certain possibility, yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right. I have

         18  other questions, but I know members are chompin, but

         19  one particular member wants to have a couple of

         20  questions. I'll come back to it.

         21                 Just one question for the timing,

         22  though: we never received any of your pending

         23  legislation to Albany, and we would really like to

         24  see some of the legislation. We appreciate

         25  everything that you said in your attempts to do
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          2  Albany legislation, and we would like to be aware of

          3  it so we can be versed in it. We created this

          4  legislation so that we could do things in-house. You

          5  know, we tend to look at ourselves first for

          6  solutions, as opposed to waiting for Upstate to act,

          7  and we would like to see a copy of those.

          8                 MS. HYMAN: We would be happy to

          9  provide it with you and work with you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         11  Council Member Barron.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chair.

         14                 Let me just say off the record, I am

         15  very, very concerned about trademark infringement

         16  and piracy, but isn't it true that no other state

         17  has a unit such as yours? And I know we will quickly

         18  say, because no other state has the problem on the

         19  level that this State has it, but certainly, you

         20  know, in Hollywood and other places, the problem

         21  does exist in Los Angeles and other states and they

         22  seem to be counting on federal laws and State laws

         23  and the local Police Department to enforce those

         24  laws like they enforce them anywhere else. And the

         25  sophisticated set-up there, when you start talking
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          2  about gathering intelligence, I thought you all was

          3  (sic) looking for Osama bin Laden, because it seemed

          4  like, I thought you was looking for terrorists. I

          5  think it's a bit much. You know, I think it's a

          6  major problem, but I'm always concerned when we

          7  increase opportunities for jail time and not looking

          8  at the problem in our communities around economic,

          9  and people doing these activities from beyond law

         10  enforcement, but looking at economic development and

         11  opportunities and jobs and given capital money,

         12  which has nothing to do with you, capital money to

         13  people in communities so that they could open up

         14  their own businesses. I certainly don't think

         15  because you don't have that you should break the

         16  law, but I think absent of that and for this Council

         17  to want to now put more policing and enforcement and

         18  involve the Department of Consumer Affairs with the

         19  Police Department in it, I just think it's a bit

         20  much, don't you?

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: I don't

         22  think that's my question to answer, but that's your

         23  initial question, Councilman. We believe we are the

         24  only Police Department in the country that has a

         25  specific unit to address trademark counterfeiting,
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          2  and although I'm sure that other states do obviously

          3  have to deal with this problem, I cannot testify as

          4  to what that level that problem is at in other

          5  states.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And the

          7  Department of Consumer Affairs, you don't think that

          8  they should be involved with you in the enforcement

          9  end of it?

         10                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: That's not

         11  my decision.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I want your

         13  thinking, not your decision. What's your opinion.

         14                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: I'm going

         15  to hold my opinion.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         19  Yassky, and then Council Member Koppell.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you very

         21  much. I have a few questions. I certainly am

         22  interested by some of the points made by Council

         23  Member Barron. Absolutely, you know, of course we've

         24  got to be asking what's the smart allocation of

         25  resources, what's worth doing, where does focus need
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          2  to be? Focus has got to be in job growth,

          3  particularly in the parts of New York that aren't

          4  benefitting from the Wall Street boom, making sure

          5  that every New Yorker benefits. That's why I think

          6  this is such a high priority. We have 100,000 New

          7  Yorkers who work just in the film and TV production

          8  part of this alone. I mean, I know 430 or 470 more

          9  broadly deals with all counterfeit goods, but just

         10  looking at the film and TV production, that's a lot

         11  of families being supported by good paying jobs, and

         12  I think those are jobs we have to be concerned about

         13  and jobs we have to worry about disappearing if the

         14  piracy threat becomes more serious than it is today

         15  and continues to grow, and to me that's what makes

         16  this an enforcement priority.

         17                 You know, I want to start again by

         18  absolutely recognizing and commending the

         19  Administration, the Police Department on its efforts

         20  here, not just what you've outlined in your

         21  testimony, but some of the other work that I know

         22  you've done that was talked about a few weeks ago,

         23  very impressive, and I think that's not to be, you

         24  know, understated at all.

         25                 Here is my question on the bill,
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          2  Chair Comrie's bill that I've co-sponsored, that

          3  does bring in the additional resource from Consumer

          4  Affairs. It seems to me that there is two kind of

          5  levels of activity here, right? I mean they're the

          6  1225 Broadway, major conspiracies that only the

          7  Police Department has plainly got the expertise to

          8  deal with, but then you've also got on dozens and

          9  dozens, it might be hundreds, I don't know, of busy

         10  retail streets in the City, right out in the open

         11  people selling what are illegal products - you know,

         12  fake DVDs, fake videos - and that's where I wonder

         13  if there isn't an opportunity -- or I'll say, that's

         14  where I think there is an opportunity to bring in

         15  some additional enforcement resources. You know, I

         16  don't expect that the precincts are going to focus

         17  on that, not because the Police Department is not

         18  doing a great job, just because they've got a lot to

         19  do. Certainly in my district I represent, I know the

         20  precincts have got a lot to contend with.

         21                 That's a place where it seems to me

         22  you could have Consumer Affairs' inspectors who

         23  already have some regulatory relationship to the

         24  street vending industry out there doing, helping to

         25  do the job that we need to do. So, I guess that's my
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          2  question, I understand not the Police Department,

          3  but I guess I'll direct to Ms. Hyman, why couldn't

          4  the Consumer Affairs Department bring some added

          5  heft to the table here? This would be an enforcement

          6  responsibility it seems to me, as important as any

          7  they deal with, quite frankly, not as important as

          8  much of what the Police Department deals with. The

          9  Police Department has violent crime.

         10                 MS. HYMAN: Chairman Yassky, I think I

         11  said in my testimony our concern is that you're

         12  talking about empowering law enforcement authority

         13  to an agency that is not traditionally engaged in

         14  law enforcement, and there are issues that we're

         15  concerned about with respect to that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, they do

         17  tickets for vending without a license already, or do

         18  they not?

         19                 MS. HYMAN: I'll let Mr. Eiler talk.

         20                 MR. EILER: The only thing with regard

         21  to when it comes to unlicensed general vendors,

         22  there is seizure authority with regard to unlicensed

         23  general vendors, that's specifically within the

         24  Police Department. Only the Police Department has

         25  the authority to seize goods in conjunction with
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          2  unlicensed vending. We don't.

          3                 The situation with respect to all

          4  these is that in any one of these kind of

          5  situations, first of all, DCA inspectors are not law

          6  enforcement inspectors. They are not empowered to

          7  engage in any kind of criminal enforcement activity.

          8                 And then the second thing is, as the

          9  Police Department has mentioned, we're talking with

         10  criminal gains and criminal enforcement, violent

         11  offenders, our inspectors on their own are simply

         12  not trained, equipped or able to handle these kinds

         13  of situations on their own.

         14                 So, the only way that we would be

         15  able to deal with it, is already the Police

         16  Department would have to be involved. What you end

         17  up with is not bringing more to the table, you're

         18  just making it less efficient and less effective

         19  because we'd have to duplicate or piggy-back on top

         20  of the Police Department in any case, and they're

         21  the ones who have the expertise to do it.

         22                 So, I'm not sure that we're going to

         23  be adding anything to the table when this is really

         24  primarily a law enforcement activity for which the

         25  Police Department already has --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: What about

          3  Sheriffs? Is that something the Department has

          4  thought about?

          5                 MR. EILER: We don't have --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Not you. Consumer

          7  Affairs Department. The Criminal Justice

          8  Coordinator's Office.

          9                 MR. EILER: I'm glad to turn it over.

         10                 I know I didn't ask you ahead of

         11  time. I'm just kind of thinking out loud here.

         12                 MS. HYMAN: We would be willing to

         13  work with you to consider other options, but in

         14  terms of this bill with respect to Department of

         15  Consumer Affairs, our concern is, you know, when you

         16  look at street peddlers, you're not talking about a

         17  group of people that doesn't fight back when you

         18  have arrests.

         19                 I think Inspector O'Neill will tell

         20  you, as well as my own officers on my task force,

         21  that even just trying to arrest this street vendor

         22  for this particular offense can result in violence

         23  and injury. So, to have people that are not

         24  traditionally trained in that is not a good idea.

         25                 Now, with respect to other ideas --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, I would ask

          3  you to consider the Sheriff idea and see if that's

          4  something that does make sense.

          5                 My last question would be, and,

          6  again, because I think if I understand the impetus

          7  of this bill, it's to bring additional resources to

          8  the table without, you know, -- understanding this

          9  Police Department has many responsibilities, can you

         10  maybe put out some enforcement targets for numbers

         11  of arrests, numbers of seizures from the street

         12  itself? And, again, the big operations are a

         13  different thing. I mean, here is something that's

         14  going on right out in the open on streets throughout

         15  the City, what kind of enforcement targets can you

         16  put out there?

         17                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: Well, I

         18  detailed earlier what my unit has done in 2006,

         19  which was 95 felony trademark counterfeiting

         20  arrests. Now, the Department, as a whole, has

         21  substantially more arrests. The patrol units have

         22  gotten much more involved in the enforcement of

         23  trademark counterfeiting law, along with the peddler

         24  squads. For a Department as a whole, there were

         25  2,149 total arrests with trademark counterfeiting.
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          2  So, that's both the misdemeanor charge and the

          3  felony charge. It's a total of 696 of those 2,149

          4  were for the felony charges from the Department.

          5                 In addition to that, there were 868

          6  for the charges of failure to disclose the origin of

          7  recording. And in addition to that, there were over

          8  6,000 summonses issued regarding street vendor or

          9  unlicensed general vendor by the PD. This is in

         10  2006.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Is it generally

         12  the practice to seize the property? There's 2,000

         13  some odd trademark arrests, do seizures typically go

         14  with those?

         15                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Mr. Chair, thank

         17  you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: On the 6,000 --

         19  you said 6,000 summons for vendor permits, 868 for

         20  failure to disclose the trademark --

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL:

         22  Eight-hundred and sixty-eight, Councilman, were for

         23  the charges of the A misdemeanor B felony combined,

         24  failure to disclose the origin of a recording, which

         25  is under Penal Law 275.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And 696 of

          3  the 2,149 were felony arrests for trademark

          4  infringement?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          7                 Again, I just want to reemphasize

          8  that the bill does not require the Department of

          9  Consumer Affairs to make arrests, but to give them

         10  the opportunity to identify illegal merchandise.

         11                 It nowhere in our bill says that we

         12  can make arrests, but it gives them the opportunity

         13  to confiscate and write tickets. You know, no one

         14  wants a Consumer Affairs' investigator to be in

         15  harm's way. You know, we were hoping to make a

         16  professional unit, a unit that handles themselves in

         17  the right and proper manner of the Police Department

         18  to be enhanced. I don't want to say -- I'll probably

         19  have to say that four or five times later, but, you

         20  know, I'm going to keep emphasizing that the bill is

         21  not -- we're not trying to eliminate a good unit to

         22  put into a civil service unit, the opportunity to

         23  have to make those kind of arrests, but if you can

         24  get your complaints tripled by expert investigators

         25  from the Department of Consumer Affairs identifying
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          2  much more, because I know that you said you've done

          3  95 yourself and -- I lost the page -- 95 arrests and

          4  62 search warrants, the problem is much deeper, much

          5  wider, and the more information I think that can be

          6  brought to bear would help deal with these efforts.

          7                 I think, and Oliver Koppell is going

          8  to say it in a minute, and I'll let him say it

          9  first, you know, it affects the City in many

         10  different ways, and I'm going to turn that over to

         11  him because I know that's been his theme overall.

         12                 Council Member Koppell.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You've read

         14  my mind, Mr. Chairman. I don't know how you did

         15  that. I was going to ask Ms. Hyman whether -- I know

         16  you spoke in general terms, you said that this

         17  illegal piracy costs the City millions and millions

         18  of dollars in tax revenue; do you have more of a

         19  firm estimate? Has anybody done an estimate of the

         20  loss of tax revenue?

         21                 MS. HYMAN: The Comptroller's Office

         22  has it. I don't have the exact --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: They're

         24  coming today? Are they going to come? I didn't

         25  realize that. So, I will wait to see that.
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          2                 Also, I think I'm sort of asking a

          3  rhetorical question, but it would seem to me true

          4  that thousands of people are employed in stores that

          5  sell legal merchandise that in a sense are competing

          6  with these illegal sellers, and to the extent that

          7  the illegal merchants are disadvantaged, and

          8  business taken away from them, it also allows them

          9  to hire less people.

         10                 So, even though, yes, there are

         11  people out there making money improperly or

         12  illegally, it's true, but still making money, and

         13  you have a certain sympathy with those people, there

         14  has to be recognition of the fact that there are

         15  people who could make money in the legal way,

         16  including paying taxes, if those people weren't out

         17  there; is that a fair statement?

         18                 Somebody?

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. I know

         21  it was sort of a rhetorical question, but I think

         22  it's true.

         23                 One question I have, and this is

         24  involved in whether we need more enforcement power,

         25  are legal vendors, people who are legally selling
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          2  goods on the street, is there any evidence that they

          3  sell large amounts of counterfeit goods, legal

          4  vendors?

          5                 MR. EILER: Not within our experience.

          6  Seldom, if ever, have we had a licensed vendor

          7  charged with selling counterfeit goods.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, if that's

          9  so, if that's so, accepting that for a moment as so,

         10  then the way to get rid of the sellers of

         11  counterfeit goods on the street is to get at the

         12  vendors who don't have licenses, right? The

         13  unlicensed vendors.

         14                 If we took them off the street, if we

         15  took all the unlicensed vendors off the street, we

         16  wouldn't have a problem with the sale of counterfeit

         17  goods on the street; is that a correct statement?

         18                 MR. EILER: I wouldn't go that far,

         19  because I don't think that's the only place where

         20  these things are sold.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, in

         22  terms of sole selling on the street, anyway.

         23                 MR. EILER: Well, from selling on the

         24  streets, probably illegal vendors are -- the

         25  unlicensed vendors are probably the persons who are
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          2  most likely to be selling these goods.

          3                 However, I just want to also point

          4  out that some of these goods may be deemed First

          5  Amendment goods, and those merchants or those

          6  vendors do not have to have a license.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Are these

          8  disks, movie disks First Amendment goods?

          9                 MR. EILER: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: They don't

         11  need a license?

         12                 MR. EILER: They don't need a license.

         13  So, that's a different --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, since

         15  they don't need a license to sell the disks, the

         16  movie disks or whatever, the video disks, how do you

         17  determine that you -- let me go back for a moment.

         18  Can you at present confiscate those illegal disks

         19  right now?

         20                 MR. EILER: Yes, I mean, if they are

         21  legal, but this would be a police --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I'm not

         23  asking only you. If the police want to answer,

         24  that's fine.

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: If a disk
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          2  is determined to be counterfeit, and I don't believe

          3  there is any DVDs or CDs being sold, at least DVDs

          4  especially on the street, whether they're still in

          5  the movie theaters, and if you can go out and see a

          6  vendor who is selling a copy of that same disk

          7  publicly, obviously that would be probable cause to

          8  believe that is a counterfeit disk.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, is there

         10  an effort underway right now by the Police

         11  Department to confiscate those goods?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: Yes,

         13  definitely. As I said, there were 2,149 arrests for

         14  trademark counterfeiting, and those were all not

         15  done by my office.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, I

         17  understand that. Is there a need for more

         18  enforcement in that arena?

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: The problem

         20  is extensive and my only comment is that we are

         21  dealing with it, I think, very handily (sic). I mean

         22  we are doing the best job we can.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But do you

         24  need more officers to be dealing with the problem of

         25  the sale of these counterfeit disks?
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: I would

          3  have to leave that to the hierarchy of the

          4  Department to determine, that's not my decision to

          5  make.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And you don't

          7  feel that adding -- I mean, the Department of

          8  Consumer Affairs right now goes in and tickets and

          9  enforces various laws. You don't think it would be

         10  helpful to have their personnel also at least

         11  identifying these people, if not confiscating their

         12  goods?

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEILL: Anybody who

         14  believes that they have either bought or even

         15  observed someone selling counterfeit products can

         16  notify the Police Department, whether it's a member

         17  of the Department of Consumer Affairs who gets this

         18  information from the public, or from the public

         19  directly, we, you know, we accept those complaints

         20  consistently and we'll go out and do an

         21  investigation.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Eiler,

         23  are your people involved in identifying the sale of

         24  counterfeit goods right now?

         25                 MR. EILER: I don't know to what
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          2  extent they are trained to identify and locate them.

          3  I can tell you this, that we do not get very many

          4  consumer complaints about the sale of these kind of

          5  disks. I can't think of any that that's even a

          6  category, that there is nobody that identifies them

          7  to us, because, frankly, most consumers who buy

          8  these products, they can't possibly that they're

          9  genuine. So, you know, they're buying these

         10  knowingly, that, you know, I'm getting something

         11  cheap that's a knock-off or whatever, and that's

         12  what they're doing. So, they're not going to be

         13  complaining to us that, gee, I bought a counterfeit

         14  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But you don't

         16  think that consumers require protection against

         17  buying these where often they're of diminished

         18  quality, for instance?

         19                 You don't think consumers need

         20  protection?

         21                 MR. EILER: The mission of the

         22  Department is to have, you know, promote a fair and

         23  honest marketplace.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

         25                 MR. EILER: A place where people,
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          2  where the consumers can trust and honest businesses

          3  can thrive.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

          5                 MR. EILER: That's the mission of the

          6  Department.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Do you think

          8  that it's a fair and honest marketplace if they're

          9  selling counterfeit disks?

         10                 MR. EILER: Unfortunately, when you're

         11  talking about sale and purchase of counterfeit

         12  disks, you've got two people who are engaged in

         13  partly illegal activity in which both of them are

         14  not really above-board.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But isn't

         16  that also true, for instance, in let's say the sale

         17  of cigarettes to minors? A minor wants the

         18  cigarettes and the store owner wants to sell them.

         19                 MR. EILER: That's true, but the law

         20  in that particular case puts the burden on the

         21  cigarette dealer that he's supposed to check whether

         22  or not the person is old enough to buy the

         23  cigarettes and not sell them if he isn't.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And doesn't

         25  the law put the burden on the retailer to make sure
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          2  that the disks that he's selling are not

          3  counterfeit?

          4                 MR. EILER: Well, I'm not aware that

          5  the people who are selling these on the street are

          6  claiming that they're genuine.

          7                 So, basically, you know, our role in

          8  something like this would be if they were out there

          9  claiming that they were selling genuine disks, that

         10  would be a problem as a matter of deception to the

         11  consumer, but I don't think there is anybody that's

         12  going out there for genuine disks for sale. I mean,

         13  these are just being sold and nobody pretends

         14  otherwise in terms of what they are.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, first

         16  of all, that's an interesting point of view. That's

         17  not my view.

         18                 MR. EILER: It's an illegal activity.

         19  So, that's where the Police Department --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: We understand

         21  the Police Department's role. The question is,

         22  should your Department have an enhanced role? That's

         23  the question I'm trying to answer. And it seems to

         24  me that the answer to that should be yes, because it

         25  both protects the consumer and protects legitimate
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          2  business and it just doesn't seem to me that it's

          3  any different from the mission of your Department as

          4  you just stated it.

          5                 MR. EILER: Well, except that we have

          6  been talking about here that this is a law

          7  enforcement criminal penalties, or crimes that we're

          8  talking about, rather than what we're dealing with,

          9  and I'm not sure whether we would be enhancing

         10  anything. Because basically when we get into those

         11  threat situations, our inspectors can't do it on

         12  their own. We'd have to be working with the Police

         13  Department in any case, so that essentially I'm not

         14  sure that anything would be enhanced by expanding

         15  this in a manner which raises some issues in terms

         16  of how this could effectively work when you have the

         17  underlying violation being a criminal matter that

         18  would have to be adjudicated with respect to whether

         19  or not a seizure can hold up.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I don't want

         21  to get involved in too much of a dialogue, Mr.

         22  Chairman, this will be the last one. But many of the

         23  statutes that the Consumer Affairs Department

         24  enforces are criminal, at least, you know, they are

         25  either violations or misdemeanors.

                                                            52

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 Right now, selling cigarettes to a

          3  minor is a criminal offense. I mean, there is a

          4  whole host of them -- disobeying the Weights and

          5  Measures Law is an offense.

          6                 I mean, unfortunately, Mr. Eiler,

          7  your statement is just not logical. It doesn't make

          8  sense.

          9                 MR. EILER: Well, the only thing I can

         10  add, that most of the time in those situations, the

         11  criminal penalty or the criminal violation is an

         12  alternative, is an option, so that there is both

         13  criminal and civil penalties, and we enforce the

         14  civil side, and the criminal side is something that

         15  is separate and distinct.

         16                 And, so, yes you're absolutely right,

         17  there are numerous, like for example, a licensing

         18  law, unlicensed activity is both a criminal and

         19  civil offense. We enforce the civil portion.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Susan

         21  Petito. If I can just add one more point? This kind

         22  of violation is a little different from the garden

         23  variety violations that Consumer Affairs Department

         24  would enforce, because these happen on the street in

         25  a potentially much more violent context than for
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          2  example a bodega owner selling a minor cigarettes.

          3  So, I would just add that to the discussion, that

          4  the inherent danger in this particular type of

          5  enforcement is something that we're very concerned

          6  about involving civilians then.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We get it and I

          8  think we're going to have to agree to disagree for

          9  the moment on it, because I don't think we're

         10  talking about the same levels of interaction, and

         11  that's something that we're going to have to work

         12  on.

         13                 Council Member Yassky, you had a

         14  question?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. I know

         16  you're going to move ahead here. I just want to

         17  really associate myself with what Council Member

         18  Koppell said. I think it hits the nail on the head.

         19                 This is, in my view, very much akin

         20  to some of what the Department of Consumer Affairs

         21  does, which is, you know, commerce that is not

         22  fraudulent but is against the public interest, that

         23  we have a very strong interest in preventing, and,

         24  you know, in my view, again, as important to enforce

         25  as much of what else the Department does.
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          2                 So, you know, I'm not as concerned

          3  about placing inspectors, you know, issuing

          4  paperwork violations against licensees, which is now

          5  part of the responsibility, as I am about displacing

          6  police officers investigating armed robberies and so

          7  forth. That's why I think this is such an important

          8  place to look for to add enforcement resources. But

          9  I thank you, Mr. Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         11                 Also, you know, one of the main

         12  reasons I'm excited about these bills is because we

         13  need to generate more revenue in the City. Today's

         14  New York Times, I didn't get to read the entire

         15  article, Blue Ribbon Commission is saying that we're

         16  losing major business in Wall Street. The

         17  Subanes/Ottley Bill (phonetic) has driven away major

         18  -- what is it called, leverage business? I don't

         19  have any stocks, bonds or even insurance, but, you

         20  know, Wall Street is losing its marketshare. Today's

         21  New York Times said that Wall Street is further

         22  losing its marketshare. The main attractions for

         23  this City is the ambiance of the City, the sale of

         24  goods, the entertainment industry, and if we don't

         25  enhance those two industries and keep them in the
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          2  City and give them every opportunity to grow and

          3  eliminate illegal activities, the Comptroller's

          4  Office said in 2004 we lost a billion dollars in

          5  sales tax revenue, if we keep losing Wall Street,

          6  which we are overly dependent on now for the City to

          7  balance its books, and we're not fighting to

          8  maintain businesses that have legitimate incomes

          9  that are paying taxes, that are trying to keep their

         10  streets clean, that are paying health insurance for

         11  workers in the City, we're going to be in a real

         12  problem.

         13                 So, I think that's where we're

         14  thrusting with this bill, to try to protect those

         15  industries that we need to enhance in the City,

         16  especially if we're losing Wall Street. And as I

         17  always say, I'm going to hold up my blackberry, Wall

         18  Street could move to the Bahamas tomorrow and

         19  operate from there, and this City has to realize

         20  that and start enhancing and dealing with those

         21  industries that make this the best City in the

         22  world. And that's the input of this bill, not to put

         23  civil service people in danger, but to enhance the

         24  utilities and the reserves and the resources we have

         25  to protect industry and money that we need.
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          2                 Before I let you go, since Deputy

          3  Commissioner Petito is here, and the last time I saw

          4  you we were talking about paid detail, and I had an

          5  idea that I thought had some legs to it regarding

          6  the paid detail, has there been any further

          7  discussions about that idea that I came up with,

          8  having a bid set up, or a third party that could

          9  develop the opportunities to develop a paid detail,

         10  like they have at the Shea Stadium and Yankee

         11  Stadium?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: There

         13  have been further discussions, and the result is

         14  that it is not possible to do it. We have had

         15  discussions with the Law Department regarding that

         16  and, unfortunately, yes, the discussions have not --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I haven't been

         18  part of those discussions so maybe we need to

         19  regenerate them. Because I think that, you know,

         20  especially in light of what happened Saturday,

         21  places that are high traffic with paid detail would

         22  make a big difference in the atmosphere outside the

         23  facility, and atmosphere outside an entity, an

         24  atmosphere that people are obviously going there,

         25  and that's not a place I would ever go to, but, you
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          2  know, my car dealer, which is a quarter of a mile

          3  away, the dealership called me because they said

          4  their workers go there to let off steam. It's not

          5  the kind of place I would go to let off steam, but

          6  you know, if a paid detail were out front on

          7  Saturday night, Saturday night wouldn't have

          8  happened. And I fully believe that. I think that's

          9  an issue that we cannot let go, Commissioner.

         10                 And I understand the legal people may

         11  have some technical issues with it, but we've got to

         12  get beyond it. This City needs paid detail. Sorry to

         13  drop that on you today, but you know, I'm dealing

         14  with this since Saturday and I'm struggling to find

         15  answers and to me paid detail would be a major

         16  enhancement.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Well,

         18  I regret, Mr. Chairman, to say seemingly that's not

         19  going to be an option. I'm sorry.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I think we need

         21  to find a way. Thank you.

         22                 Thank the panel for being here this

         23  afternoon.

         24                 The next panel is Kirk Swanson from

         25  the Comptroller's Office; Richard Cotton from NBC
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          2  Universal, and Vans Stevenson, from the Motion

          3  Picture Association of America.

          4                 Kirk, we're going to start with you,

          5  because you're with the Comptroller's Office and

          6  you're going to talk about particular issues, and

          7  since we share the same birthday, I always like to

          8  have you speak first.

          9                 MR. SWANSON: It's a good day.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I've got to say,

         11  before you start, Kirk, I am infuriated about what I

         12  just heard from the Deputy Commissioner. I know it's

         13  on a different topic, but I can rest assured I am

         14  being calm about my response right now, but there

         15  are going to be issues with that. I just can't say

         16  enough about the fact of how infuriated and upset

         17  and agitated I am right now, because it's going to

         18  hurt our City in many different ways for our City to

         19  admit failure on an initiative that's so important

         20  to this City.

         21                 I'm sorry, I'll try to get back to

         22  the issue at hand.

         23                 Mr. Swanson.

         24                 MR. SWANSON: Good afternoon, Chairman

         25  Yassky, and Comrie, and members of the Committee on
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          2  Small Business and Consumer Affairs. Thank you for

          3  hosting this hearing on the problem of

          4  counterfeiting in New York City. My name is Kirk

          5  Swanson, the Associated Director of Research and

          6  Special Projects. I'm seated here with Mark Kailish

          7  (phonetic), who is the director of that same

          8  program.

          9                 I am pleased to offer testimony on

         10  behalf of Comptroller William C. Thompson, Jr. I am

         11  here today to offer support for legislation that

         12  will effectively combat New York's counterfeit trade

         13  whether it entails the unauthorized operation of

         14  recording devices in motion picture theaters or more

         15  broadly, the sale of counterfeit goods.

         16                 Because of lost tax revenues and the

         17  negative impact of counterfeiters on legitimate New

         18  York businesses, the issue is necessarily important

         19  to the Comptroller.

         20                 As an important first step in dealing

         21  with this problem, the Comptroller's Office released

         22  a report in November 2004 on New York City's illegal

         23  counterfeiting industry. Members of the Committee

         24  have copies of this groundbreaking study, and the

         25  public can access it at the Internet on their
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          2  website, that site is detailed in the copy of the

          3  testimony.

          4                 By our estimate, counterfeiting in

          5  the City is a $23 billion industry. It not only

          6  damages legitimate businesses, it also causes the

          7  City to lose significant tax revenue, more than $1

          8  billion each year.

          9                 We calculate this figure as comprised

         10  as $380 million in unpaid New York City sales taxes,

         11  290 million in business income tax, and 360 million

         12  in personal income tax.

         13                 Overall we found that New York State

         14  and New York City lost a combined total of about

         15  $2.6 billion in tax revenue in Fiscal Year 2003 as a

         16  result of the sale of counterfeit goods.

         17                 This represents revenue that could be

         18  used to build schools, repair roads, help small

         19  businesses grow.

         20                 The problem has an indirect impact as

         21  well. Counterfeiting undermines the notion of

         22  fairness for those who pay taxes, endangering the

         23  future prosperity of the City's businesses and

         24  creative communities.

         25                 Isn't this a problem every
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          2  municipality faces? Well, we are not alone in this,

          3  but New York City suffers from an especially high

          4  volume of counterfeiting activity.

          5                 This is due to several factors,

          6  including the size of our population and a large

          7  number of visiting tourists, which generate high

          8  demand for both legal and counterfeit goods.

          9                 Clearly, this is a problem that calls

         10  for action. In order to address this issue, the

         11  Comptroller has created a task force made up of some

         12  of today's foremost thinkers and leaders in the

         13  business and government communities.

         14                 The group has been working with the

         15  Comptroller's Office to explore ways to explore the

         16  sale of counterfeit goods and subsequently develop a

         17  comprehensive program, to stem the flood of

         18  counterfeit goods available on our streets.

         19                 We need to make it easier for

         20  consumers to know when they are buying illegal

         21  goods, while encouraging them to choose legal goods

         22  instead.

         23                 We must foster greater coordination

         24  between the concerned industries and law enforcement

         25  as we commit to increased enforcement.
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          2                 We must also reach out for community

          3  input in search of our new strategies to fight

          4  counterfeiters. This is a big problem that is not

          5  going away overnight.

          6                 For example, law enforcement

          7  officials know that a major distribution center for

          8  many of the counterfeit goods sold in the United

          9  States is located in a small part of Manhattan, just

         10  south of Midtown and north of Chelsea. However,

         11  while law enforcement conducts raids in this area

         12  and others, it is extremely difficult to close

         13  distribution operations of this magnitude

         14  permanently.

         15                 It will take us, leaders in

         16  government working with law enforcement business in

         17  the community, all of us, to tackle this issue

         18  successfully. Elected officials need to ensure the

         19  legitimate taxpaying retail businesses that help

         20  drive the City's dynamic economic engine, are able

         21  to conduct business in an environment that is fair

         22  and supportive.

         23                 This is why the Comptroller applauds

         24  the efforts of the Committee on Consumer Affairs and

         25  the Committee on Small Business in addressing the
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          2  harmful proliferation of counterfeit goods, and we

          3  look forward to the enactment of strong legislation

          4  that will provide opportunities for effective

          5  enforcement.

          6                 Thank you, once again, for inviting

          7  me to speak with you today.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you, Kirk.

          9  You talked about the fact that law enforcement

         10  officials noted there are major distribution centers

         11  here in just a small part of Manhattan, and also

         12  they've been focused on it in a couple of different

         13  ways, but what else can the Comptroller's Office do

         14  to try to track this merchandise from its source or

         15  from the tax sources. Is all this money going

         16  underground and not to the tax economy or

         17  established economy, when you talk about $23

         18  billion, and we're losing a billion dollars a year

         19  in revenues, how is this money flowing? Is it all

         20  underground economy?

         21                 MR. SWANSON: Yes, it's all part of

         22  the underground economy, yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         24                 MR. SWANSON: You can break it down.

         25  It's not just street peddling, it's also
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          2  distribution, manufacturer, a number of things are

          3  involved here which accounts for that large number,

          4  23 billion.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right.

          6                 Thank you, Kirk.

          7                 The next person?

          8                 MR. COTTON: Mr. Chairman, my name is

          9  Richard Cotton. I'm General Counsel of NBC

         10  Universal. On behalf of Bob Wright, the CEO of NBV

         11  Universal, our employees and our customers, I'm

         12  grateful for the opportunity to participate in

         13  today's hearings.

         14                 I'm here for three reasons: First, to

         15  recognize and applaud the City's increased attention

         16  to the growing problem of film and television

         17  piracy;

         18                 Second, to support and applaud

         19  specifically the focus on enhanced street resources,

         20  addressed to street peddling and with respect to

         21  enforcement of illegal camcording; and

         22                 Third, to emphasize there is much

         23  more work to be done at all levels of government and

         24  private industry to attack the multifaceted threat

         25  of piracy, and we look forward to ongoing
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          2  collaboration to address those challenges.

          3                 I must begin by expressing our

          4  appreciation for the City Council's devotion of time

          5  to motion picture piracy, and to Council Members

          6  Yassky and Comrie specifically, who have worked so

          7  diligently on these proposed amendments of the New

          8  York City Administrative Code.

          9                 There has been tremendous progress

         10  since the July 29th joint Committee hearing that

         11  brought these issues to the forefront at which NBC

         12  Universal was also pleased to testify.

         13                 That we are back today to support

         14  decisive and responsible legislation indicates not

         15  only your recognition of the negative effect of film

         16  piracy, but also reflects your positive leadership

         17  and support for our industry, and we appreciate it.

         18                 I would like to particularly

         19  emphasize the point that several speakers have made

         20  here that piracy is not a victimless crime. It kills

         21  jobs. And in this connection, I would just note that

         22  the figure that has been repeated, and we believe

         23  it's accurate, is that 100,000 jobs in this City are

         24  generated by the film and television business. There

         25  are multiple, multiple locations in Manhattan, our
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          2  company is headquartered here, but I would note also

          3  that three very major studios, two in Queens, one in

          4  Brooklyn, which are thriving on the basis of

          5  increased and increasing activity on the part of the

          6  television and motion picture production business in

          7  this City, this message was highlighted at the New

          8  York City entertainment summit on October 23rd that

          9  was hosted by Mayor Bloomberg. We were encouraged by

         10  the broad level of City leadership that participated

         11  in the summit, including members of this Committee,

         12  Council Members Yassky and James, we're also

         13  encouraged by the coordinated efforts of the Mayor's

         14  Office of Film, Theater and Broadcasting, the Office

         15  of the Criminal Justice Coordinator, the New York

         16  City Police Department and the City Council working

         17  together with the MPAA and the RIAA to increase the

         18  focus on piracy and trademark infringement in our

         19  City. It is no small task and piracy remains a

         20  complex and persistent challenge. In that

         21  connection, I would also applaud the Comptroller's

         22  study with respect to the impact and the dollar

         23  impact in particular of trademark piracy and of all

         24  kinds, including video and disk piracy. And in that

         25  connection I would call the Committee's attention to
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          2  the fact that I saw two weeks ago that the FBI's

          3  estimate of the total dollars involved in property

          4  crime of all kinds, property crime of all kinds in

          5  the United States in 2004 totaled just under $20

          6  billion across the entire country. And if you

          7  compare the dollars involved in those crimes with

          8  the Comptroller's study in terms of the losses that

          9  are here in the City, the discussion that we just

         10  heard in terms of the application of enforcement

         11  resources is really something that deserves

         12  attention and deserves debate.

         13                 The fact is that I would submit to

         14  the Council that too often the crime of piracy is

         15  trivialized, it tends to be regarded as a nuisance

         16  crime, and that that attitude is really quite

         17  widespread, and I think it's part of the enthusiasm

         18  we had for the Mayor's commitment, in terms of the

         19  communication program to emphasize the fact that we

         20  really are talking about the economic security of

         21  this City and of the country, and in terms of

         22  protecting our creativity and our innovation, and

         23  that it deserves far more enforcement commitment and

         24  it deserves to be taken far more seriously than

         25  frequently it is. And I think that the contribution
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          2  that this hearing is making in highlighting the

          3  problem, I think the contribution the Comptroller

          4  study has made in terms of highlighting the dollars,

          5  are really to be significantly applauded.

          6                 In terms of the specific two proposed

          7  amendments, I won't take the time, it's in my

          8  written testimony, we are certainly supportive of

          9  the efforts that the Council is proposing in this

         10  respect. And in terms of Intro. 470, which has

         11  gotten a good deal of discussion here, in terms of

         12  the role of the Department of Consumer Affairs, I

         13  think the critical element of it is, that it is from

         14  our point of view a very creative and positive means

         15  of trying to use existing resources to increase the

         16  eyes, ears and interdiction resources that are

         17  targeted on street peddlers.

         18                 And while I don't want to get into

         19  the debate as to the effectiveness of police versus

         20  consumer, Department of Consumer Affairs'

         21  inspectors, I think what the Council has done is to

         22  highlight the problem, which is this does require

         23  increased numbers of eyes and ears and street

         24  enforcement resources, and the real question is

         25  where do they come from? And I think it is a very
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          2  creative suggestion, in terms of trying to use what

          3  are existing resources in the form of consumer,

          4  Department of Consumer Affairs' inspectors, whether

          5  there are other ways to get additional eyes and ears

          6  on the streets devoted to trying to address this

          7  problem is a creative and constructive debate, and

          8  that ought to be more under the aegis of the police,

          9  or I would even suggest if there is a way for the

         10  Consumer Affairs' inspectors to cooperate with the

         11  police.

         12                 If the point is that the Consumer

         13  Affairs' inspectors can identify illegal activity

         14  that's taking place, and be in close communication

         15  with relevant police officers, that may be a

         16  constructive way to create the enforcement mechanism

         17  that we would want. I think the problem that the

         18  Council has identified is that it is difficult for

         19  the Police Department to have police officers

         20  everywhere at every time, and the question is, how

         21  do we help and bring to bear the police enforcement

         22  at the proper time?

         23                 What actually strikes me is the fact

         24  if you look at, in terms of our physical security,

         25  there's this "if you see something, say something,"
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          2  we have neighborhood watch programs which try to

          3  draw on citizens to bring police in. I was struck by

          4  the comment of a prior witness who said that they

          5  hadn't received any complaints. Well, I've received

          6  a lot of complaints, and the problem is that people

          7  don't know where to call. And so, again, if the

          8  challenge here is how to get eyes and ears which

          9  bring enforcement resources to the location of the

         10  illegal activity at the time that it's taking place,

         11  I think the suggestion if the Consumer Affairs

         12  Department is constructive, there may be other ways

         13  in terms of involving other eyes and ears, and I

         14  would raise the question in terms of our own

         15  industry, we would have probably 10,000 employees in

         16  the City of New York City, and whether there is a

         17  way for them to be eyes and ears for the police or

         18  investigative resources in the way the police seek

         19  out neighborhood watch programs, we would certainly

         20  be prepared to engage in those kinds of discussions.

         21  But I think that the Council has really highlighted

         22  the enforcement issue and I commend you for your

         23  role. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Cotton.
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          2                 Next.

          3                 MR. STEVENSON: Thank you, Chairman

          4  Comrie and Chairman Yassky, and members of the

          5  Committee. My name is Vans Stevenson. I'm Senior

          6  Vice President of State Government Affairs at the

          7  Motion Picture Association of America, and I think

          8  most of you know we're the trade association that

          9  represents the leading producers and distributors of

         10  motion pictures, including NBC Universal Studios,

         11  Disney, Paramount, Sony, and Fox and Warner

         12  Brothers. And we also appreciate the opportunity to

         13  be here to testify in support of Intros. 383 and

         14  470.

         15                 I've been involved in the enactment

         16  of 39 anti-camcorder bills in the states across the

         17  country, including the District of Columbia, and I

         18  want to say that we really appreciate your

         19  leadership with this legislation to combat motion

         20  picture theft and counterfeiting. You're not only

         21  protecting our business and jobs, but I think

         22  equally as important, and I think Chairman Comrie,

         23  you alluded to that you're also protecting sales tax

         24  revenue that's being lost, and in addition, you're

         25  protecting the investment that the New York City
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          2  Council made through an enhanced tax credit to

          3  attract film and television production which you've

          4  been very successful at over the last year. I think

          5  there are more motion picture and television

          6  productions going on in New York, in New York City

          7  than almost anywhere in the country outside of

          8  California.

          9                 Unfortunately, New York has also

         10  become the key location for criminals that steal

         11  movies by recording off theater screens and

         12  unfortunately the majority of the illegal movie

         13  recordings originate in New York theaters, I think

         14  you heard that earlier. And it's ironic that New

         15  York State is the weakest criminal penalty in the

         16  United States, and if a criminal gets caught

         17  camcording in a movie theater in New York today,

         18  it's a violation under existing law, that means it's

         19  basically the same as a traffic ticket.

         20                 Forty-three percent of all the

         21  illegal camcorder recordings found in the US last

         22  year alone were in New York City theaters, I think

         23  you heard that earlier, but in addition, illegal New

         24  York camcorder copies were also found in 48

         25  countries on 100 different Internet release groups,
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          2  which is enormous.

          3                 In addition, those stolen movies are

          4  also released on other Internet locations,

          5  peer-to-peer networks, chat rooms and option sites

          6  within days of theatrical release. In most instances

          7  those illegal copies can be traced directly back to

          8  camcorder copies from New York.

          9                 Obviously, this trend is very

         10  alarming. The financial damage to my member

         11  companies, the motion picture business at large, is

         12  growing to very high disturbing levels. And based on

         13  our current study we commissioned this past year,

         14  there was an estimated $6.1 billion lost in revenue

         15  in 2005, just for the MPA and member companies,

         16  including NBC Universal.

         17                 And that's why I think your

         18  leadership, by further enhancing the penalties for

         19  screen theft is so critical, and I believe will make

         20  a big difference.

         21                 We'd also like to applaud, and are

         22  grateful to the NYPD. New York Police Department

         23  continues to be supportive in our enforcement

         24  efforts. I think you've heard that earlier. They've

         25  been instrumental with countless raids, and
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          2  particularly with their task forces have been

          3  extremely successful.

          4                 We believe this anti-camcorder

          5  legislation that you proposed will provide a really

          6  practical and efficient process for NYPD to bring

          7  movie thieves to justice.

          8                 Right now an illegal recording in a

          9  theater has to occur in the presence of a police

         10  officer in order for an arrest or a ticket to be

         11  written.

         12                 Obviously, that is generally an

         13  unrealistic expectation for our business, I think,

         14  or for theater owners. If this legislation passes,

         15  just like shoplifters in retail stories, movie

         16  thieves can be observed, detained by theater

         17  employees or security people until police officers

         18  arrive to make an arrest.

         19                 Intro. 470 provides another valuable

         20  tool, we believe, for New York City's Consumer

         21  Affairs' inspectors and other City agencies to aid

         22  in the fight against counterfeit goods.

         23                 I agree with Rick and what others

         24  have said, and I don't want to, you know, debate

         25  exactly what they can do, but I think that that
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          2  enhancement will greatly aid enforcement efforts,

          3  and I think it will compliment the current efforts

          4  that NYPD is involved with at the present time.

          5                 This added ammunition to fight the

          6  war on movie piracy could not have come at a more

          7  perfect time, I think now that Mayor Bloomberg has

          8  pledged additional resources to help fight movie

          9  piracy, and we applaud your efforts to join and be

         10  aggressive in terms of that battle.

         11                 Also, as I alluded to earlier and

         12  others have talked about one important consequence

         13  rarely discussed is the loss of City tax revenue due

         14  to movie theft.

         15                 This untaxed criminal enterprise

         16  fuels a dangerous underground economy I think that

         17  we've heard about. It means fewer jobs. It means

         18  that if we can't -- if our companies can't make a

         19  return on their investment, there won't be money

         20  available in the future to invest in future motion

         21  pictures.

         22                 Street peddlers, camcorder criminals

         23  and others engaged in theft, distribution and sale

         24  of illegal goods should face the maximum penalties.

         25  We believe to continue the illegal sale of
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          2  counterfeit DVDs directly threatens the economy, as

          3  I think we had heard earlier. And I don't know

          4  whether most of you know, but motion pictures are

          5  one of America's top exports right now bigger than

          6  airplanes, agriculture, appliances. Most people

          7  don't realize that.

          8                 MPA stands ready to work with you to

          9  swiftly enact these measures in any way that we can.

         10  We've also proposed some amendments just to ensure

         11  that these particular laws don't conflict with

         12  federal copyright law, which in some cases could be

         13  preemptable. I think that there is some minor

         14  tweaking that needs to be done, and I'm willing to

         15  answer any questions that you might have.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         18  Yassky, I'm going to let you start.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         20                 Well, thank you. First of all, you

         21  know, I thank all of the witnesses. The

         22  Comptroller's work here has really been outstanding

         23  and of great benefit, so please, on his behalf

         24  accept my thanks and gratitude and commendation.

         25                 I particularly, really want to thank
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          2  Mr. Cotton and Mr. Stevenson for participating here,

          3  and I hope it's certainly not lost on us here on

          4  this panel, and I hope it's not lost on the folks

          5  from the media who are here, that your industry has

          6  seen fit to represent itself by such senior and

          7  distinguished people as yourselves. I think it

          8  speaks a great deal about the commitment that the

          9  industry has made here, and also the importance that

         10  your industry sees in this issue, and I guess the

         11  threat that it sees, and I want you to know that

         12  it's absolutely shared here.

         13                 I think just to pick up on what Mr.

         14  Cotton said about people think it's a victimless

         15  crime, or it's, you know, a nuisance crime, you know

         16  I think that's the case. People who would never

         17  dream of walking into a store and putting a --

         18  walking into a Tower Video, if it's still there, and

         19  putting a DVD in their jacket pocket and walking

         20  out, shoplifting, I think there are people who

         21  wouldn't dream of that who think it's okay to pay a

         22  dollar for -- I don't know what's out today, but

         23  Happy Feet, on, you know, out on Court Street or

         24  Seventh Avenue, Manhattan. And I think the message

         25  has to get across that's theft. You know, stealing
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          2  is stealing, whether it's shoplifting or buying a

          3  pirated DVD on the street, absolutely. And I know

          4  the Administration has been working with your

          5  industry about looking at ways to get that message

          6  out there, and I think your participating here I

          7  think helps send that message, so thank you for

          8  doing that.

          9                 Mr. Stevenson, thank you for your

         10  comments on the legislation. I looked through it

         11  here, not being a lawyer, well, not being a real

         12  lawyer, I won't respond to them right here, but I

         13  suspect that they're extremely helpful, you know,

         14  and should be adopted or taken into account.

         15                 And in terms of the enforcement

         16  resources, you know, look, I think your point is the

         17  right one. We need more enforcement resource here,

         18  if it's NYPD, if it's Department of Consumer

         19  Affairs, if it's somewhere else, I think your

         20  suggestion, Mr. Cotton, is an extremely helpful one

         21  that I, for one, want to pursue with the

         22  Administration, that, you know, there's a way to

         23  bring folks, other than NYPD into the effort without

         24  having them make arrests and have to, you know, run

         25  down the street chasing, fleeing street peddlers, if
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          2  that's the picture in their mind. So, I absolutely

          3  want to make sure we don't just talk about it, but

          4  do it. Whatever is a way to bring those resources to

          5  bear, I think we need to do that. So, thank you very

          6  much. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you,

          8  Council member. I want to echo and second your

          9  comments before I forget. I didn't introduce Council

         10  Member David Weprin who was here on the left, and

         11  Council Member Jim Gennaro and Council Member John

         12  Liu who has been here.

         13                 I don't know how many times I'm going

         14  to say it, but I'll say it again, I think you

         15  already know we get it here, we just need this bill

         16  to be done so that collaborations can happen. I'm

         17  still a little upset about somebody telling me that

         18  something can't be done. I just believe that

         19  anything we put our minds to can be done, and this

         20  is clearly an area that we're losing a lot of money

         21  in the City, it's not just losing us money, it's

         22  losing us an opportunity to be a vibrant and

         23  productive City. It's losing jobs, it's losing --

         24  it's debilitating businesses, so we need to get this

         25  done.
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          2                 If I had been invited to the October

          3  23rd summit, I would have been there. I just want

          4  you to know that. And Ashly, where are you? Ashly

          5  Compton from the Mayor's Office? Oh, she left, okay.

          6  So, I'll just put that out in the world. But this is

          7  something that's critically important to me to

          8  support the industries that are making money in our

          9  City, and as you know, Council Member Yassky and

         10  myself and other members were trying to get a higher

         11  amount of percentage for the income, for the tax

         12  credit for the movie industries because it's an

         13  industry that works, people want to be here. Actors,

         14  whenever you see them on any program, they tell you

         15  how much they like being in New York, and we need to

         16  have that panache.  We need to keep making the

         17  businesses here, and we need to keep the businesses

         18  that are selling goods legitimately here, and not

         19  have to continue to frustrate them along with the

         20  parking tickets that they have to have in Midtown

         21  and the other stressors in Midtown to be undercut by

         22  someone selling the same good outside of a store

         23  that they can't touch or impact.

         24                 You know, I can't emphasize enough

         25  how much we want to get this to happen. We're not
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          2  trying to put anyone in harm's way, but if we put

          3  more eyes and more attention to this situation,

          4  we're losing a billion dollars a year, you know, we

          5  only have a $53 billion budget and a billion dollar

          6  of taxes in our budget would be a great enhancement.

          7  So, that's where I'm coming from with this, and I

          8  hope that we can do everything we can to work out

          9  those technical logistics so that these bills can be

         10  passed quickly. And thank you all for being here.

         11  Mr. Swanson, always good to see you. Thank you, to

         12  the Comptroller.

         13                 Council Member Yassky.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY. Mr. Chair, if

         15  I may, I did have one question that occurred to me,

         16  because you talk about the peer-to-peer and pirate,

         17  Internet piracy; I think I remember that the

         18  recording industry, the music industry, you know,

         19  worked with the universities to kind of see if they

         20  could stop, have some protocols for discouraging,

         21  you know, theft of music over the Internet; is the

         22  film TV industry doing the same thing?

         23                 I'm wondering if there are things we

         24  could ask our local universities to be doing?

         25                 MR. STEVENSON: Well, in fat, we have
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          2  created a department within the motion picture

          3  association in cooperation with the studios to

          4  address those challenges directly. And actually in

          5  New York we have been meeting with universities and

          6  our primary focus is to look at a couple of things.

          7  One is filtering, so students and others who access

          8  the university network aren't able to access

          9  copyrighted works, and also look at legitimate

         10  services and other ways to enforce it. But, yes,

         11  that's something we're working directly on but we

         12  would appreciate your help as well. It's a major

         13  challenge.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'd like to

         15  follow up with you on whatever we can do to be

         16  useful.

         17                 MR. COTTON: I would like to second

         18  that. There is ultimately the solution, the biggest

         19  contribution that can be made is going to be

         20  technology. It is going to be possible, whether you

         21  are talking about a university IT system, whether

         22  you're talking about an ISP, the telecose (sic) and

         23  the cables companies, there are going to be ways to

         24  technologically reduce the amount of piracy, and

         25  ultimately the CE and IT industries have an
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          2  important role to play. But in terms of what's here

          3  in New York City, the universities and the cable and

          4  ISPs here in New York City could be taking

          5  technology measures to reduce the amount of piracy

          6  that takes place over the Internet and I would say,

          7  if I could say this gently, Mr. Chairman, that they

          8  could use some encouragement to move forward on

          9  that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We hear you.

         11  Thank you, gentlemen.

         12                 Next panel. Thank you. Thank you for

         13  being here.

         14                 MR. COTTON: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The next is

         16  Barbara Janowitz, from the League of American

         17  Theaters and Producers; Craig Novoa, from Regal

         18  Theatres in New York; Russell Hollander, Directors

         19  Guild of America; and Paul Christie; and Paul

         20  Christie from the Screen Actors Guild.

         21                 Okay, Ms. Janowitz, whenever you're

         22  ready.

         23                 MS. JANOWITZ: Thank you. My name is

         24  Barbara Janowitz, and I'm with the League of

         25  American Theatres and Producers, the Trade
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          2  Association for the Broadway theater industry.

          3                 Chairman Comrie, Chairman Yassky and

          4  Committee members, thank you for the opportunity to

          5  testify today on behalf of the Broadway Theater

          6  industry in support of Intro. No. 470, and to

          7  request that Intro. No. 383 be broadened to include

          8  legitimate theaters as well.

          9                 Chairman Comrie, and Chairman Yassky,

         10  we thank you very much for sponsoring these

         11  important measures. We call ourselves legitimate

         12  theaters, that's not taking anything away from movie

         13  houses. It's a historic term.

         14                 You may be surprised to hear that

         15  unauthorized photography and videotaping is also a

         16  problem in Broadway theaters, but it's been a

         17  troubling occurrence for as long as anyone can

         18  remember and with the proliferation of websites

         19  featuring unauthorized video clips or sales of

         20  bootleg DVDs, and with the increasingly

         21  sophisticated electronic equipment, the problem has

         22  been worsening annually.

         23                 Today, virtually every hit Broadway

         24  show is available for sale illegally in its entirety

         25  on video or on DVD. And the access to these illegal
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          2  videos and DVDs just multiplies daily. Googling the

          3  words bootleg Broadway on the Internet produces a

          4  truly alarming array of websites, offering anything

          5  from short scenes available for trade, to full

          6  length videos and DVDs for sale.

          7                 A website called "For The Love Of

          8  Broadway.blogspot.com has an entire category called

          9  "Broadway Bootlegs" that runs 51 printed pages

         10  long, and includes about 350 different productions

         11  illegally taped on Broadway in London and on

         12  Broadway road tours. The "My Broadway Musical

         13  Bootleg Collection" website has over 500 show videos

         14  for sale. It goes on and on. A recent article in the

         15  New York Times by theater critic Charles Ischerwood

         16  described the riches available on YouTube. YouTube

         17  has tens of thousands of clips from Broadway shows,

         18  and we can't forget e-bay and other auction sites

         19  that offer clips or full length bootleg reporting.

         20                 There is no attempt to disguise the

         21  fact that these are bootlegged. They are advertised

         22  as "shot from Row B Seat 17, or they'll have a tag,

         23  "occasional heads in the way during most of the

         24  full stage shots," or "some disruption due to

         25  late-comers." And like the illegal recording of
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          2  motion pictures, the goal of many bootleggers is to

          3  be the first to offer these videos or DVDs for sale

          4  or trade.

          5                 The new Disney/Cameron Mackintosh

          6  production of Mary Poppins was barely into its

          7  preview period last month when parts of it were

          8  already available on YouTube. And video cameras are

          9  found at that show in every performance and many

         10  others.

         11                 This is repeated at countless

         12  Broadway theaters with the hit shows, not

         13  surprisingly, being the most popular for taping. And

         14  here is the problem with the videos and DVDs. This

         15  is not about loss of income for people not buying

         16  theater tickets necessarily to see the show,

         17  although we have no way of really gauging that, but

         18  whether it's a 30-second clip of Adina Menzel's last

         19  performance as Elphaba in Wicked or the entire

         20  full-length version of The Color Purple, whether

         21  it's bought or traded or shared on the Internet,

         22  these are outright thefts.

         23                 Unauthorized illegal photography and

         24  recording is stealing the work of those who

         25  legitimately create it - actors, designers,
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          2  directors, playwrights, composers and even the

          3  producers who financially invest in putting it all

          4  together.

          5                 An actor's image and performance is

          6  stolen, a choreographer's moves are stolen, the set

          7  designer, the costumer designer, their visual

          8  creations are stolen. The playwright's words,

          9  copyrighted words are stolen. The entire creative

         10  aesthetic is stolen, and the theatrical experience

         11  that is created for that performance's audience only

         12  and is not designed or intended in any way to be

         13  watched on an electronic screen, is stolen.

         14                 Broadway's contracts with the

         15  creative union specifically ban any unauthorized

         16  photography or filming. There are state laws we know

         17  that specifically forbids the same, although it's

         18  not enforceable, and federal copyright law protects

         19  the author's words from illegal use.

         20                 These bootleg videos and DVDs violate

         21  the protections that do exist and we need help to

         22  strengthen these bans.

         23                 There's three kinds of unauthorized

         24  filming in theatrical productions. The first is done

         25  out of naivete' and ignorance, we believe, for
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          2  personal use only, the tourist comes to New York,

          3  comes to see the show, takes up a camera, the video

          4  camera, makes a little clip.

          5                 The second is done for bragging

          6  rights and for trading as a commodity on websites,

          7  and this is a little bit more disturbing, this would

          8  be Idina Menzel's last performance, or star-studded

          9  benefit performance for charity, and finally, and

         10  all too often it's done for profit. The illegal sale

         11  of DVDs and videotapes and anywhere between $20 and

         12  $50 per bootleg means that someone else and not the

         13  creative personnel of the show is profiting from

         14  this.

         15                 It also means that the legitimate

         16  cast recording of these musical productions are

         17  probably not being sold to those who have purchased

         18  the bootleg DVD.

         19                 Theater managements try to control

         20  and authorize photography and video recordings. It's

         21  very difficult, and as technology changes, it's

         22  harder to detect. Typically it's the actor who sees

         23  it. They see the red power light of a video camera

         24  somewhere in the house and then they tell the stage

         25  manager who tells the house manager, and the house
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          2  manager, sometimes with security personnel, if they

          3  have them, confronts the videotaper while trying not

          4  to disturb the surrounding audience, or they'll wait

          5  until intermission.

          6                 If it's an old fashioned camera or a

          7  video camera, the house manager will take the film

          8  out of the camera, develop it, and return any

          9  non-pirated shots to the patron, which is, as you

         10  can imagine, very time consuming. If it's digital

         11  they'll ask the patron to step into the lobby and

         12  they'll watch as they delete or film over those

         13  shots.

         14                 But the advent of digital technology

         15  makes it even more difficult to spot a camera from

         16  the stage, since they don't have the little red

         17  power lights anymore. Now the house managers and the

         18  usher staff try to patrol the aisles and see if they

         19  can see the led screen from behind, from the back of

         20  the house, but sometimes those are turned off, so

         21  that's not successful. And of course, now we have

         22  cell phones that can film short pieces of moving

         23  action, and they are a commonplace scourge that is

         24  so difficult to control. I was told by the folks

         25  over at Wicked that literally every performance the
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          2  front row of seats is filled with patrons filming a

          3  scene from their cell phones.

          4                 While it is within the theater's

          5  rights, according to New York State law, to ban the

          6  cameras, videos or sound equipment by collecting

          7  them as patrons enter and providing the receipts and

          8  returning them after the show, this is time

          9  consuming and expensive and rarely done, except when

         10  mega celebrities are on stage. It was done when

         11  Julia Roberts was in last season's Three Days of

         12  Rain.  It would also remain impossible to detect

         13  cameras brought in by people who would flagrantly

         14  defy the law.

         15                 And it's not that the shows don't try

         16  to go after the bootleg videos, we know that

         17  Disney's Corporate Legal Department was able to get

         18  the illegal full-length tape of the Lyon King off of

         19  the Internet by taking aggressive legal action, and

         20  I understand that the Universal Pictures' lawyers

         21  will chase down full-length or substantial footage

         22  of Wicked, in which Universal is a major producer,

         23  and lawyers for other productions write cease and

         24  desist orders constantly to the Internet

         25  bootleggers. Sometimes it works, sometimes it
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          2  doesn't work.

          3                 E-bay will remove an item if they're

          4  told it's bootlegged. Other sites will not. The

          5  problem has become so prevalent and so overwhelming

          6  and most non-corporate producing houses just can't

          7  assign lawyers to tackle this full-time.

          8                 With the sophistication of recording

          9  technology and the fact that these bootleg sales are

         10  conducted over the Internet, unauthorized recording

         11  in legitimate theaters has grown into a huge and

         12  very frustrating problem for the theater industry.

         13  The more legal ammunition we have at our disposal to

         14  fight this, the stronger teeth we can put into

         15  curtain announcements, other messages, public

         16  service campaigns, and the better chances we have of

         17  stopping at least some, if not all of the habitual

         18  ripping off of our artists in shows.

         19                 We applaud the sponsors and the

         20  committees for taking this on, and we would like to

         21  support you in any way we can. The unlawful theft of

         22  individual performances and copyrighted intellectual

         23  property is damaging to those who labor to create

         24  each individual theater experience, and I hope we

         25  can work together to put an end to it.
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          2                 Thank you very much for allowing me

          3  to express our opinions.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Next person.

          5                 MR. HOLLANDER: Thank you, Chairman

          6  Comrie, Chairman Yassky and Committee members for

          7  inviting me to appear before the Committees on

          8  Consumer Affairs and Small Business to discuss film

          9  piracy and its impact on its men and women who work

         10  in the entertainment industry in New York.

         11                 My name is Russell Hollander. I am

         12  the Eastern Executive Director for the Directors

         13  Guild of America. The DGA represents 13,000

         14  directors and members of the directorial team who

         15  work on feature films, television programs,

         16  commercials, documentaries and nuisance sports

         17  programs. Approximately 3,500 of those members live

         18  here in New York City.

         19                 What I would like to address, and I

         20  will try to be brief in the written remarks, is the

         21  impact that film piracy has on the people who work

         22  in the industry, and really to address the notion of

         23  film piracy as a victimless crime.

         24                 The DGA members and other people who

         25  work in this industry are really affected in three
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          2  critical manners by film piracy, and when I talk

          3  about the people who are working in the industry,

          4  and unfortunately there is this image out there of

          5  film and television industry of the stars in the

          6  front pages of the tabloids and the magazines and

          7  the lifestyle that goes along with that. Most of the

          8  people who work in this industry work behind the

          9  camera, or very long hours and not for the amount of

         10  pay that you read about in the papers. They have the

         11  titles, Assistant Directors, production managers,

         12  production designers, camera operators, set

         13  designers, costume designers, editors, carpenters,

         14  sound technicians, set PAs, drivers, Foley artists,

         15  lighting technicians, it's that long, long list that

         16  scrolls at the end of the film, and if you take the

         17  time to look at it, you realize how many people are

         18  really making their living in this industry. And the

         19  first way that they get affected by film piracy is

         20  from the loss of the residuals paid to them to work

         21  on the film.

         22                 This is an industry and the

         23  compensation system is based that most people who

         24  perform or work on a film get paid an initial

         25  compensation, and then they get a residual or a
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          2  reuse when that film is shown in other markets,

          3  whether it's a feature film appearing on television,

          4  or film or television that then appears on DVD.

          5                 They also get money based upon

          6  foreign use and foreign video cassettes. When films

          7  are pirated, they lose that income, and that income

          8  is critical to them. Most people in the film and

          9  television industry work on one project for weeks or

         10  months and then they're out of work for months or

         11  years, between their next project. It's the residual

         12  income that they get from the sales, primarily of

         13  DVDs, that sustains them in between their work.

         14  Without the money that they receive from those

         15  residuals, they can't afford to continue to work in

         16  this industry.

         17                 The second way that people who work

         18  in this industry are impacted by this, is that the

         19  residuals fund the Guild pension and health plans.

         20  For the DGA, for instance, 70 percent of the revenue

         21  that goes into our defined pension plan comes from

         22  residuals. If we lose that residual income, our

         23  pension plans cannot help survive, our health plans

         24  cannot help survive, it impacts every single person

         25  who works behind the cameras in this industry.
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          2                 We did, with respect to those two

          3  aspects, we did a case study on the feature film

          4  Right (phonetic), which was directed by Taylor

          5  Hackford (phonetic), and the reason we picked this

          6  one is Taylor Hackford was walking down Canal Street

          7  the week the film opened, and he saw the DVD on

          8  Canal Street with the artwork that he had selected

          9  for the DVD release that wasn't going to come out

         10  for over three months.

         11                 We tracked what happened to that film

         12  and where it went and within a week of that film the

         13  pirated copy of the DVD was on sale, not only in New

         14  York, but it was in California, Florida, Georgia,

         15  Texas and worldwide in Europe, Russia, China and

         16  many other foreign countries. By the way, we were

         17  able to check from water marks and tell that it was

         18  camcorded here in New York.

         19                 We then tracked what happened on

         20  peer-to-peer requests to download it on peer-to-peer

         21  networks, and from October 2004, when the DGA

         22  started looking at this, through May 2005, that

         23  short window, there were 42 million global hits to

         24  illegally download Right on peer-to-peer networks.

         25                 We have estimated conservatively that
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          2  only one of ten of those attempts was successful,

          3  these are the slow data transfer times that existed

          4  at that time. But that still represents $4.2 million

          5  -- 4.2 million potential DVD lost sales. In terms

          6  of income to the directorial team alone who worked

          7  on that film, because that's all we can calculate,

          8  the Director lost $60,000 in income, the Unit

          9  Production Manager and Assistant Directors lost

         10  $12,000 and the DGA pension plan lost $18,000.

         11  That's in a six-month period only from illegal

         12  peer-to-peer downloads, and that doesn't include any

         13  of the illegal hard good sales on the streets here

         14  in New York and elsewhere in the world.

         15                 So that just one illustration of how

         16  that affects the first two impacts upon the people

         17  working in the street.

         18                 The other impact which often times

         19  gets lost in this debate, is the films that aren't

         20  made as a result of piracy. It is not a simple

         21  process to make a film. I mean, if you look at films

         22  now, the cost of films is upwards in some cases to

         23  over $100 million. Directors, actors, others, when

         24  they go to try to get a film financed, the investors

         25  have to look at whether they're going to get a
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          2  return on their money. Regrettably, most films do

          3  not make their money back on a theatrical release. I

          4  think the estimate is about one in ten retrieve

          5  their investment on a theatrical release.

          6                 More than that, most films never

          7  recoup their cost to begin with. If you take away

          8  the money that the studio is going to receive from

          9  the sales on DVDs and the sales in foreign markets,

         10  where the DVDs get out there before the film is

         11  released, it makes it incredibly difficult for

         12  people to want financing and for people to attract

         13  financing to make films. It's impossible to track

         14  how many films don't get made, but that is one of

         15  the factors that often times gets lost in this.

         16                 So, just to sum up, there are three

         17  critical things that we see as importance to

         18  stopping piracy: One is the residual income to the

         19  performers and the people who work behind the

         20  camera, the residual income to the union benefit

         21  plans, and, three, the cost in films that don't get

         22  made.

         23                 And I want to thank you very much for

         24  inviting me here to talk. I'm happy to answer any

         25  questions and I urge your continued support in
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          2  fighting film piracy.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          4                 The next person testifying?

          5                 MR. CHRISTIE: My name is Paul

          6  Christie. I'm the New York Division President and

          7  the 2nd National Vice President of the Screen Actors

          8  Guild.

          9                 Before I begin I wanted to say the

         10  question on the floor today is isn't this a bit

         11  much? I would have to say that I represent 26,000

         12  loud no votes and I thank you for doing what you're

         13  doing today.

         14                 Thank you, Chairman Yassky and

         15  Chairman Comrie and Committee members. I am here

         16  today representing the 120,000 members of the Screen

         17  Actors Guild in support of two anti-piracy

         18  legislative measures, Intros 383 and 470. Before I

         19  go any further, I must extend our heart-felt thanks

         20  to all of you for your contributions towards

         21  creating a true renaissance of film, television and

         22  commercial production in New York City. Your

         23  response to the entire entertainment and production

         24  community was decisive, progressive and visionary,

         25  and for this we cannot be any more proud of our
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          2  elected leaders and we will remain forever grateful.

          3                 I sit before you today, not only as

          4  the president of the Guild of New York, but also as

          5  the actual face of a victim. At times some have

          6  characterized piracy as a victimless crime, but

          7  nothing could be further from the truth.

          8                 As actors, our earnings are based on

          9  residual use or back-end deals. In other words, we

         10  are initially paid a fee at the time of performance,

         11  but the light-sustaining payments are made to us

         12  after our performance through residual payments,

         13  based on sales to the public.

         14                 These residual payments also help

         15  provide us with essential health care, as each

         16  residual payment is credited toward our pension and

         17  health earnings. No actor in the United States,

         18  except those very few at the highest wrung, can

         19  survive in this business without residual payments.

         20  Film piracy destroys the only hope an actor has of

         21  maintaining a career and providing for our families.

         22  We should no more condone theft of these films than

         23  the theft of cars, clothing, intellectual property,

         24  or any vital services. It is not a harmless prank of

         25  a 16-year-old with a camcorder, it is the slow
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          2  destruction of an industry by way of recording,

          3  downloading, pressing and distribution of our

          4  collective works. It is, we believe, out of control,

          5  and has the potential to critically wound our

          6  American film industry, if not dealt with

          7  immediately.

          8                 We thank the NYPD for their increased

          9  enforcement efforts through the work of their newly

         10  formed task forces. We are also thankful to the

         11  Council's efforts to boost film production in New

         12  York, they're exemplary, and set New York as the

         13  standard for the country. But we implore you, do not

         14  let all that work and effort, and cooperation by so

         15  many be destroyed by piracy at the 11th hour and

         16  59th minute.

         17                 Please do not let these criminal

         18  cooperatives interfere with our ability to continue

         19  to grow our industry in New York. Your visionary

         20  legislative efforts not only feed thousands of New

         21  Yorkers in our industry, but uphold and foster our

         22  proud film heritage here in New York City.

         23                 On behalf of the 26,000 New York

         24  members of the Screen Actors Guild of New York, I

         25  ask that you once again take the lead and set the
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          2  standard in this fight against piracy.

          3                 Thanks for having me here today.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. Next.

          5                 MR. ANDINO: Thank you, Chairmen

          6  Comrie and Yassky and members of the City Council.

          7                 My name is Bill Andino. I'm the

          8  Assistant Executive Director of the National

          9  Association of Theatre Owners of New York State. Our

         10  association represents the theater owners of New

         11  York. New York has nearly 400 theater complexes that

         12  employ more than 8,000 New York residents. Movie

         13  theaters are responsible for over 113 million in

         14  payroll to New York residents annually.

         15                 I'd like to thank you for providing a

         16  public forum to discuss this issue of piracy. As you

         17  know, the majority of illegal DVDs can be traced to

         18  camcorders in movie theaters, and we support

         19  legislation to increase penalties for such activity.

         20  We thank Councilman Yassky for his legislation,

         21  Intro. No. 383, for increasing the penalties for

         22  illegal camcording.

         23                 However, there are certain changes

         24  that we propose to Intro. Number 383 that will

         25  provide theater owners protection when alerting law
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          2  enforcement authorities of an alleged violation. We

          3  urge that theatre owners should not be held liable

          4  in any civil action arising out of reasonable

          5  measures taken while awaiting the arrival of law

          6  enforcement authorities and detaining a person that

          7  the owner believes to have violated this section.

          8                 With the advent of more sophisticated

          9  watermarking on film, we have been able to determine

         10  that New York is one of the major areas in the

         11  country where camcording exists. Piracy is costing

         12  the movie industry worldwide more than $6 billion

         13  annually. Increased penalties will help deter this

         14  illegal activity.

         15                 However, a more immediate problem, as

         16  indicated by others here, is the illegal

         17  manufacturing and distribution of DVDs by street

         18  peddlers in New York City, which is almost of

         19  epidemic proportion. If left unchecked, it will

         20  destroy the livelihoods of all of us in the

         21  entertainment industry, from film producers and

         22  video retailers, to all those working in exhibition.

         23                 Without this measure, Intro. No. 470,

         24  which prohibits people from selling, distributing,

         25  manufacturing and trading these illegal goods, our
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          2  livelihood is at stake. If left unchecked, this

          3  theft would contribute to a loss of jobs and

          4  business revenue, as many of us have heard today.

          5                 As you may know, movie theaters

          6  provide first-time jobs for high school and college

          7  students, many of whom lack work experience. These

          8  jobs alone provide them a valuable entry into the

          9  workforce.

         10                 So, I'm here to urge your continued

         11  support and partnership with this industry to help

         12  eradicate illegal manufacturing and sales of illegal

         13  DVDs. And I'd like to thank you, again, for your

         14  continued efforts in publicizing this important

         15  problem.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         17                 Are you going to speak? My counsel,

         18  my able counsel Tom Ferrugia is telling me that your

         19  first statement regarding the concern for civil

         20  penalties, the bill has implied there is already a

         21  shop keepers' privilege, and Thomas, you might want

         22  to say it in a legalees that I could never say it

         23  in?

         24                 MR. FERRUGIA: Well, not to say that

         25  it's not something that we can't explore, but I'm
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          2  sure attorneys at the table, if there are any, are

          3  aware that there is a general provision in the law

          4  for shopkeepers that if they do suspect unlawful

          5  activity or theft taking place on their premises,

          6  they do have the ability to detain the suspect until

          7  the police show up, and that they are not held

          8  accountable for unlawful imprisonment.

          9                 Again, not saying that it's not

         10  something we don't need to look at, that's generally

         11  why you don't see those kinds of provisions in the

         12  law, because they're implied.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The second

         14  suggestion you had, can you expound on that a little

         15  bit more?

         16                 MR. ANDINO: The one that prohibits

         17  people from selling?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         19                 MR. ANDINO: The only one I had

         20  mentioned was the one with regards to the owner's

         21  protection. And then the second one was just making

         22  a reference to 470.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. All right.

         24  I just wanted to make sure I heard it correctly.

         25                 MR. ANDINO: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Ms. Janowitz, we

          3  will include -- how do you call it? The Broadway

          4  shows, and legitimate theater, I think you said.

          5                 MS. JANOWITZ: Stage productions, I'll

          6  give you the right --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, we'll be

          8  happy to include that.

          9                 MS. JANOWITZ: Thank you so much.

         10                 Council Member Yassky.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I know we are

         12  under time constraints, so I will forego a question.

         13  I just want to thank you. I thank you particularly,

         14  Ms. Janowitz, for that. That's a very helpful

         15  suggestion for addition.

         16                 I learned a lot from your testimony,

         17  so I thank you for that. I, too, was startled by

         18  that article in the Times, which suggested -- not

         19  the matter with the posting, you know, bootleg

         20  material all over the Internet. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The last panel is

         22  Mitchell Balmuth. It's hard to read your

         23  handwriting. William Andino, and the Street Vendor

         24  Project.

         25                 MR. ANDINO: I already spoke.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, you already

          3  spoke? Okay.

          4                 And there's an emergency meeting

          5  regarding the shooting that happened in my district,

          6  so I'm going to turn over the rest of the meeting to

          7  the able hands of Council Member Yassky and thank my

          8  staff and Council member staff, for making sure that

          9  we work forward and make this happen. Thank you all

         10  for being here this afternoon.

         11                 Councilman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you, Chair

         13  Comrie.

         14                 Please proceed.

         15                 MR. BASINSKI: Good afternoon, and

         16  thank you for inviting us. My name is Sean Basinski,

         17  and I'm the Director of the Street Vendor Project at

         18  the Urban Justice Center. We are a membership-based

         19  organization with about 560 dues-paying New York

         20  City street vendors who sell merchandise and food

         21  across our City.

         22                 We do not have counterfeit sellers in

         23  our membership and we do not condone the sale of

         24  counterfeit merchandise. But we're here to testify

         25  today, and thank you for inviting us, because we are
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          2  frankly offended at some of the language today, and,

          3  for example, in the press release that I saw, that

          4  equated street vending with counterfeiting.

          5                 We did a survey actually a few months

          6  ago, we found out that 96 percent of street vendors

          7  do not sell counterfeit merchandise, and there has

          8  been no recognition of that today. In fact, the

          9  street vendors of our City, whom you, I would say,

         10  use the derisive and rather antiquated term of

         11  peddlers for, which is also offensive, we believe,

         12  are working very hard and a very small number of

         13  them are selling counterfeit, primarily those are

         14  doing so because they cannot get a license to sell

         15  real merchandise, and if you're breaking the law for

         16  selling without a license, many people say you might

         17  as well be breaking the law twice and also be

         18  counterfeiting.

         19                 So, it is disappointing that the City

         20  Council is spending so much time on something that

         21  even this Administration believes is duplicative,

         22  and apparently not spending as much time worrying

         23  about the thousands of legal and licensed vendors

         24  out there who are struggling to make a living

         25  themselves.
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          2                 Council Member Yassky, I know you

          3  have supported our bills. I'm disappointed that

          4  Council Member Comrie has left, because we've been

          5  trying to meet him for some time now, and I brought

          6  two copies of letters that our organization sent him

          7  to try to get a meeting signed by many people, and

          8  we had a rally about a month ago where 300 street

          9  vendors rallied at City Hall, and no Council Members

         10  came to support the licensed and hard-working and

         11  taxpaying street vendors at our City.

         12                 And, so, we are offended by some of

         13  the language that's been used today and was used in

         14  the press release, which by the way, says nothing

         15  about what has been talked about here today,

         16  thankfully, of the sale of counterfeit merchandise

         17  on the Internet, which is largely, which is more

         18  prevalent or as prevalent as on the street, and, of

         19  course, the sale of counterfeit merchandise in

         20  stores. Sometimes big stores, as you may be

         21  surprised.

         22                 Let me wrap up here. One second,

         23  please. And, so, while I mention that we do not have

         24  counterfeited merchandise sellers in our membership

         25  and we do not condone it, we are disappointed that
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          2  the City Council is spending time going after this

          3  small minority of vendors who are selling illegal

          4  merchandise without taking the time to help the

          5  thousands and thousands of licensed, legal and

          6  taxpaying vendors who are struggling in our City

          7  every day.

          8                 I'd like to introduce a vendor and

          9  one of our Board members, Moustaphe Cisse.

         10                 MR. CISSE: My name is Cisse,

         11  Moustaphe. I am currently here today, I'm so happy

         12  to be here because we tried to reach you like two

         13  months ago to try to explain our situation, how we

         14  work, how they're working, our organization. At this

         15  point, the guy who just left, I don't know, what's

         16  his name, Yassky?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Comrie.

         18                 MR. CISSE: Comrie. We tried to reach

         19  him. He don't want to inform the guys, a lot of

         20  things, he never set an appointment. Even today,

         21  when we came, wait our name, we are here to meet

         22  him, he just left. That's an indicator for us, we

         23  exist, we are human beings. So, now we come to the

         24  counterfeiting, that's the thing we really, really

         25  need to be careful, because some time if you try to
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          2  say this is counterfeiting, you don't even know what

          3  counterfeit mean, because you can't talk about the

          4  name brand. To tell someone name brand, you don't

          5  have the name there. That's not real thing to do. We

          6  have many guy who sell stuff with a permit, for the

          7  permit they pay the tax, they work, they set up

          8  their table. They have training for the

          9  counterfeiting. They don't even have the name there,

         10  this is not counterfeit.

         11                 Also, that guy, small guy, he did not

         12  handle the case, because you have to go make an

         13  appointment, that can take for you one year, more

         14  than one year. You don't have money to pay the

         15  lawyer. You didn't meet the guy here who have small

         16  income, they're paying the tax, you charge him

         17  something, he cannot handle it. Later on you have

         18  legal lawyer over there, okay, this is what you can

         19  do, they can help. You just tell you're guilty, then

         20  you walk away, you don't have to pay nothing. That's

         21  not helping us. That's not the case.

         22                 For me, if you want to look in the

         23  counterfeit, cut it to the top. The continent, the

         24  fabric, they bring to the United States, that's

         25  where you need to go. But I am so embarrassing (sic)
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          2  for you today, for your guy, to talk about the guy

          3  who have appointment. You try to sell them, this is

          4  counterfeit, it's counterfeit, what counterfeit is

          5  that? To confiscate and say this is counterfeit,

          6  it's counterfeit, that is not going to stop the

          7  counterfeit. You've got to go to the fabric, if they

          8  look at the counterfeit.

          9                 Also, I heard they're talking about

         10  this guy, they don't pay tax. They don't pay tax. I

         11  don't know which guy you're talking about. We're

         12  selling, we have a permit, our organization have a

         13  permit. Majority of them have a permit, they sell. I

         14  see every year, before you go for permit, you're

         15  going to go for tax final, then you're clearance,

         16  they make sure you pay the tax. If they do that for

         17  us, why they don't do it for the big company? You

         18  want to see, they did the same thing for them.

         19  Because we support in the City, everybody should pay

         20  tax, that's why they were in the City.

         21                 I want every single one are here

         22  (sic), look at that flag, try to remember exactly

         23  what the flag mean. This country is country of hope,

         24  not to just come to attack the small guy. Not for

         25  that. When you believe that, you better find better
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          2  solution to not attack the small guy.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 MR. BALMUTH: How you doing? My name

          5  is Mitchell Balmuth, and my wife is an artist and

          6  we've been selling her artwork on the streets for 13

          7  years. We've been involved in two lawsuits with the

          8  City, and I've testified at Parks Department

          9  hearings, Consumer Affairs hearings, about artwork

         10  before. And when I first looked at this law, I says,

         11  well, this is great because I know some artists that

         12  have had their work stolen. These are individual

         13  artists. You know, so far we've heard from the

         14  corporations, I did feel for the Screen Actors

         15  Guild, the Directors Guild, but basically these

         16  corporations have the money to do the work with the

         17  existing laws. They don't really need this existing

         18  law to help them, because they already have State

         19  law which basically says the same thing, and they

         20  also have copyright laws and whatnot, they can

         21  afford to hire the big lawyers, they could afford to

         22  hire marshals to go with them, to enforce the

         23  federal laws; what does the individual street artist

         24  have?

         25                 Now, I tried in the past to get the
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          2  Police Department, I've spoken with Lieutenant

          3  Albota (phonetic) from the Legal Department, to have

          4  him just meet with two individual street artists

          5  that have had their work stolen. The Police

          6  Department refuses to help the individual artist,

          7  but here we're at this meeting and we're going to

          8  help the film industry. What about the individual

          9  artist? What about the small person?

         10                 Just like Sean was saying, this whole

         11  thing was aimed at the street vendor. What about the

         12  companies that are bringing these things, exporting

         13  them and importing them. You say that New York is a

         14  great port for exporting and importing these

         15  counterfeit items. I don't see anyone talking about

         16  breaking those rings. Even the ones that they

         17  carried on 1250 Broadway, I believe it was, it

         18  basically turned out to be a bunch of small little

         19  companies.

         20                 This can be done without any problem.

         21  I want to know what's in this new law that will help

         22  the individual artist who has had his work stolen,

         23  stay in the street, a street artist, to get the

         24  police to do something. I don't see anything in this

         25  law to help them. You start from the bottom up and
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          2  then you take care of the rich. You take care of the

          3  small guy first. That's what the democratic party

          4  is, that's what most of you guys are. I believe

          5  they're democrats. You sound like a bunch of

          6  republicans here worrying about the corporate world,

          7  and how it's going to affect the corporate world.

          8  I'm sort of sad to see how the City Council works.

          9                 And then we're talking about, like

         10  say you can protect the street artist, you don't

         11  talk about the problems of First Amendment law. Like

         12  say you decided to crack down on some of the artwork

         13  that's being sold on streets. How do you know what's

         14  public domain? How do the police know? Are you going

         15  to act only on individual complaints? If you will, I

         16  know a few artists that want to make individual

         17  complaints and they've been told there's nothing we

         18  can do about it. And who will this be law enforced

         19  against? It's going to be enforced against, against

         20  what do you call it? Against the vendor. That's what

         21  I pretty much heard, against the vendor. It's not

         22  going to be enforced against anyone else.

         23                 I know lots of legal merchants that

         24  have dealt, that deal with copyright infringement.

         25  Parks Department concessions have, what do you call
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          2  it? This illegal merchandise on their stands, and

          3  nothing ever happens to them. It goes on and on.

          4                 But one thing I do agree with the

          5  Police Department and this hearing, Consumer Affairs

          6  should be left out of the picture. I agree that they

          7  shouldn't have police powers, they're inept besides.

          8  They have a very small staff of inspectors. They

          9  don't even know the laws. The last time I heard that

         10  they did an enforcement thing, they were enforcing

         11  the laws incorrectly.

         12                 I had to make a call to the disabled

         13  vets that were being moved and I had to tell them

         14  what the law said, the exact law and why they were

         15  enforcing it wrong, and they had to make some calls

         16  to the top police officials and top consumer affairs

         17  officials to stop the wrong enforcement. They're

         18  inept. They shouldn't be doing it. The Police

         19  Department is not using the full resources. If they

         20  really want to get rid of the problem, it can be

         21  done. They're not using their full resources. You

         22  have beat cops that are doing nothing. All you have

         23  is basically a peddler unit and one other unit which

         24  is very small in New York now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Well, first
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          2  of all, in terms of the vocabulary, you're correct,

          3  the peddler versus vendor, I appreciate the

          4  correction. I've seen the word peddler in official

          5  documents here, but I appreciate your perspective

          6  there and I'll respect that.

          7                 Two things: first of all, I do want

          8  to say something about my colleague, Chair Comrie,

          9  who did I know have to leave, in fact he stayed here

         10  longer than he intended to. He represents the

         11  district in which there is a great deal of concern

         12  about the shooting on Saturday, and he is one of the

         13  hardest-working people I know, I have served with

         14  him here for years. I think he's an outstanding

         15  servant, and just because he's not here, I wanted to

         16  say that.

         17                 In terms of your point about

         18  identifying, you know, pirated thieves with vendors,

         19  absolutely not. And indeed, it was the question, the

         20  Department of Consumer Affairs themselves said we

         21  don't see that this is an activity that's engaged in

         22  in any serious way, or really he said at all, by

         23  licensed vendors. That was exactly what he said. And

         24  that's certainly not what I'm saying, it's my

         25  assumption that the vending industry, like everyone,
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          2  like most industries, largely, you know,

          3  overwhelmingly largely people who are trying to do

          4  the right thing and make an honest living and trying

          5  to play by the rules, but then there are folks who

          6  aren't, just like every industry. And I don't think

          7  there can be any denying that there is a real

          8  problem with people selling what are in fact illegal

          9  goods on the street that take away from the

         10  livelihoods of New Yorkers, and that's not about the

         11  companies, corporations, it's about the people in

         12  the City who work in this industry, many of them

         13  live in my district, and absolutely the police

         14  should be as concerned about theft of an individual

         15  artist's work as NBC Universal's work, absolutely.

         16  And if there's enforcement, we need them to do a

         17  better job in enforcement, I'd be the first to stand

         18  up to say let's make sure they're doing that.

         19                 So, those are my thoughts and

         20  response. It looks like you have a follow-up, I know

         21  we're pretty much out of time in our room here, but

         22  please go ahead.

         23                 MR. CISSE: What I'm trying to explain

         24  to your guy is this country, immigration country,

         25  this country of immigration, country of hope. So,

                                                            118

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  many people they come here, to the country, they

          3  don't even know what's counterfeit mean. They don't

          4  understand this is brand name or not brand name.

          5  Those people, they don't have a permit, sell on the

          6  street, they don't want to do the crime. Let's say

          7  my street, when I come here first time, I came to

          8  the country 1988, I entered Fifth Avenue, I tried to

          9  sell watches, the building who sell the Gucci,

         10  Rolex, those buildings say, okay, put it here, put

         11  it here. Look at the watch is something like this, I

         12  think they helped me. I didn't know what they do,

         13  they tried to build a tree (sic). When they got

         14  their tree, now they got what they want, many people

         15  come there try to build the case against us. That's

         16  the way these people making money.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: What I hear you

         18  saying in truth to me, makes more of an argument for

         19  the Department of Consumer Affairs to get involved

         20  here, because I understand what you're saying, is,

         21  you know, street vendors, just like other

         22  businesses, when there's complicated rules, they

         23  often won't know what they are, yes, that's why you

         24  need the regulators to kind of be out there helping,

         25  you can think of it as enforcing, you can think of
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          2  it as helping people comply, and those are both

          3  actually valid, important ways to look at it. And I

          4  think that, I mean I don't think there is any

          5  material enforcement on the street, I think that

          6  we're there, you're right, then people who are

          7  coming here starting to do it, they would learn very

          8  quickly from other folks, here's what the rules are,

          9  and, you know, they'd get some pretty good advice. I

         10  have no doubt this is what you're going to do to

         11  avoid a problem, and this is the right way to do it.

         12                 So, okay, you can have the final

         13  word, but we're going to have to finish up.

         14                 MR. CISSE: I believe it doesn't work

         15  that way. They try to get the people to sell this

         16  good thing for them. Same people who own the company

         17  represent the company. After that, when they know

         18  these people, there are a lot of majority of people

         19  to do it, they try to build a case with the Rolex,

         20  get the money from them, that's the case they make

         21  against them. Now you have also the task force

         22  peddler unit, they call them "peddler unit." They

         23  change the rule. They look for the misdemeanor. As

         24  the police officer say, I don't see any different --

         25  how is Consumer Affair going to use those people to
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          2  build a case to try to be the police officer. They

          3  need training. Good training to do good thing. And

          4  these people, they cannot make it. That's what I

          5  believe.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Well, thank

          7  you very much.

          8                 With that, the hearing is adjourned.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 3:50 p.m.)
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